

# Demazure roots and spherical varieties: the example of horizontal SL(2)-actions

Kevin Langlois, Alexander Perepechko

# ▶ To cite this version:

Kevin Langlois, Alexander Perepechko. Demazure roots and spherical varieties: the example of horizontal SL(2)-actions. 2014. hal-01011047

# HAL Id: hal-01011047 https://hal.science/hal-01011047v1

Preprint submitted on 22 Jun 2014

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# DEMAZURE ROOTS AND SPHERICAL VARIETIES: THE EXAMPLE OF HORIZONTAL SL<sub>2</sub>-ACTIONS

#### KEVIN LANGLOIS AND ALEXANDER PEREPECHKO

ABSTRACT. Let G be a connected reductive group, and let X be an affine G-spherical variety. We show that the classification of  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on X normalized by G can be reduced to the description of quasi-affine homogeneous spaces under the action of a semi-direct product  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes G$  with the following property. The induced G-action is spherical and the complement of the open orbit is either empty or a G-orbit of codimension one. These homogeneous spaces are parametrized by a subset  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  of the character lattice  $\mathbb{X}(G)$  of G, which we call the set of Demazure roots of X. We give a complete description of the set  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  when G is a semi-direct product of  $\operatorname{SL}_2$  and an algebraic torus; we show particularly that  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  can be obtained explicitly as the intersection of a finite union of polyhedra in  $\mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{X}(G)$  and a sublattice of  $\mathbb{X}(G)$ . We conjecture that  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  can be described in a similar combinatorial way for an arbitrary affine spherical variety X.

*Key words:* Demazure root, Luna–Vust theory, polyhedral divisor, spherical variety. MSC 2010: 14M25 14M27 14R20.

# Contents

Introduction	1
1. Preliminaries on Luna–Vust theory	3
2. Preliminaries on polyhedral divisors and normalized $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions	6
2.1. Polyhedral divisors and affine T-varieties of complexity one	6
2.2. $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on affine $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity one	8
2.3. Horizontal $SL_2$ -actions	12
3. Colored cones versus colored polyhedral divisors	15
3.1. Classification of the type I	15
3.2. Horizontal and vertical $G_e$ -invariant valuations	19
3.3. Classification of the type II	21
4. Demazure roots and affine spherical varieties	22
4.1. General case	23
4.2. Description for the reductive group $G_e$	26
References	32

#### INTRODUCTION

In this article we are interested in the automorphism groups of spherical varieties defined over an algebraically closed field  $\mathbb{K}$  of characteristic zero. Let G be a connected reductive group. Recall that a G-spherical variety is a normal variety endowed with

The second author is supported by the SPbGU grant for postdocs no. 6.50.22.2014. He expresses his gratitude to the Institut Fourier for the hospitality it provided during the writing of this paper.

a G-action and containing an open orbit of a Borel subgroup. The Luna–Vust theory describes such varieties with combinatorial objects defined by the geometric structure of the open G-orbit [Kno91]. Their study has been motivated by numerous important examples (see [Sat60, Dem70, KKMS73, MO73, Pau81, CP83]) coming in particular from representation theory and enumerative geometry.

To begin studying automorphisms of G-spherical varieties it is natural to consider the varieties with a relatively small automorphism group, for instance which neutral component is expected to be generated by the G-action. The following families of such spherical varieties are studied:

- (1) smooth complete toric varieties [Dem70, AG10];
- (2) flag varieties [Dem 77];
- (3) spherical regular varieties [BB96];
- (4) wonderful varieties [Bri07, Pez09];

On the other side, there are families of spherical varieties with quite rich automorphism group, namely such that their automorphism group acts infinitely transitively on the regular locus. Excluding one-dimensional case, the following families are appropriate:

- (5) affine cones over flag varieties [AKZ12, Section 1];
- (6) non-degenerate affine toric varieties [AKZ12, Section 2];
- (7) equivariant  $SL_2$ -embeddings considered as spherical varieties under the extension of  $SL_2$  by a torus [BH08], [AFKKZ13, Section 5.2];
- (8) smooth affine G-spherical varieties under a semisimple group G [AFKKZ13, Section 5.2];

Related to this topic, our general aim is to provide a method of constructing automorphisms of an arbitrary G-spherical variety in a combinatorial way. In this article we study the classification of the  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on affine G-spherical varieties that are normalized by G. Restricting to toric varieties, such actions allow studying the automorphism groups in case (1) via total coordinate spaces [Cox95, Cox14]. They also allow establishing the flexibility [AKZ12, Definition 0.1] in case (6).

In order to explain our results, we introduce the following notation. Let X be an affine G-spherical variety. We say that two  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions  $\varphi_1 : \mathbb{G}_a \times X \to X$  and  $\varphi_2 : \mathbb{G}_a \times X \to X$  are *equivalent*, if there exists a constant  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K} \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$\varphi_1(\lambda \mu, x) = \varphi_2(\mu, x)$$
 for any  $x \in X, \mu \in \mathbb{G}_a$ .

In particular, two equivalent actions share the same orbits. Denote the *G*-action on *X* by  $(g, x) \mapsto g \cdot x$ . A  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action

$$\gamma: \mathbb{G}_a \times X \to X, \ (\lambda, x) \mapsto \lambda * x$$

is called *normalized* by G if there exists a character  $\chi: G \to \mathbb{G}_m$  such that

$$g \cdot (\lambda * (g^{-1} \cdot x)) = (\lambda \chi^{-1}(g)) * x$$

for all  $x \in X$ ,  $g \in G$ , and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{G}_a$ . The  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action normalized by G naturally defines an action of the semidirect product  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$  on X, see 2.6.

In Theorem 4.5 we provide a correspondence in terms of Luna–Vust theory between

- equivalence classes of  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on X normalized by G and
- quasi-affine homogeneous spaces under the action of a semi-direct product  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$  enjoying the following property: the induced *G*-action is spherical and the complement of the open orbit is either empty or a *G*-orbit of codimension

one. Furthermore, the character  $\chi$  satisfies a certain explicit condition imposed by X; such characters are called *Demazure roots* of X and form the set denoted by  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$ . This definition is coherent with a classical one for toric varieties, see [Dem70, Section 4.5, p. 571].

The set  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  is defined in a geometric way. A natural question arises whether  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  is a combinatorial object. More precisely:

Question 0.1 (see 4.11). Can  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  be obtained explicitly as the intersection of a sublattice of the character lattice  $\mathbb{X}(G)$  and a finite union of polyhedra in  $\mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{X}(G)$ ?

The answer to this question is affirmative if G is an algebraic torus. The simplest non-abelian connected reductive group which we can consider is the semidirect product  $G_e = \operatorname{SL}_2 \rtimes_e \mathbb{T}$ . It is the reductive group defined via the multiplication law

$$(A,t_1)\cdot(B,t_2) = (A\cdot\varepsilon_e(t_1)(B),t_1\cdot t_2), \text{ where } \varepsilon_e(t)\left(\begin{smallmatrix}a&b\\c&d\end{smallmatrix}\right) = \left(\begin{smallmatrix}a&\chi^{-e}(t)b\\\chi^e(t)c&d\end{smallmatrix}\right).$$

We prove that the answer is still affirmative for every affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety X, see Theorem 4.18. We also provide a necessary and sufficient condition for affine  $G_e$ -spherical homogeneous spaces to admit a nontrivial normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action, see 4.14.

To obtain these results we use AL-colored polyhedral divisors (by Arzhantsev and Liendo) which provide a combinatorial description of compatible SL<sub>2</sub>-actions on affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity at most one, see [AL12]. This description allows us to characterize all spherical  $G_e$ -actions on affine varieties. In fact, we establish an explicit relation between AL-colorings on  $G_e$ -spherical varieties and corresponding colored cones in the Luna–Vust theory, see Theorem 3.7 and Propositions 3.13, 3.18.

Let us outline the structure of this article. In Section 1 we recall elements of the Luna–Vust theory for the embeddings of spherical homogeneous spaces. In Section 2 we briefly explain the Altmann–Hausen construction of polyhedral divisors (see [FZ03], [AH06], [Tim08]) for T-varieties of complexity one and provide several known results concerning normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions (from [FZ05], [Lie10a], [Lie10b], [AL12], [Lan13, Chapter 5], and [LL]). In Section 3 we establish the connection between AL-colored polyhedral divisors and colored cones. In Section 4 we deduce Theorem 4.5, we pursue Question 4.11, in particular we answer it for affine  $G_e$ -spherical varieties in Theorem 4.18, and we study the existence of normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions in Theorem 4.14.

**Convention 0.2.** Throughout this paper  $\mathbb{K}$  is an algebraically closed field of characteristic zero. By a variety we mean an integral separated scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{K}$ . If X is a variety then  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  denotes the coordinate ring of X, and  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  denotes its field of rational functions. A point of X is assumed to be a  $\mathbb{K}$ -rational point. Furthermore, all algebraic group actions are in particular morphisms of varieties. For an algebraic group G acting on X the natural action on  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  (resp.  $\mathbb{K}(X)$ ) is defined by the formula

 $(g\cdot f)(x)=f(g^{-1}\cdot x),$ 

where  $g \in G$ ,  $f \in \mathbb{K}[X]$  (resp.  $f \in \mathbb{K}(X)$ ), and  $x \in X$ .

# 1. Preliminaries on Luna–Vust theory

In this section, we recall some notation from the Luna–Vust theory for the embeddings of spherical homogeneous spaces. We are mainly interested in the case where the embeddings are affine. We refer the reader to [LV83, Kno91, Pez10, Tim11] for the general theory. Let G be a connected reductive linear algebraic group and consider a Borel subgroup  $B \subset G$ . We start by introducing classical definitions.

**Definition 1.1.** A variety with a *G*-action is called *spherical* (or *G*-spherical when one needs to emphasize the acting group) if it is normal and contains an open *B*-orbit.

To define the notion of embeddings of a spherical homogeneous space, we introduce the scheme of geometric localities (see [LV83, Section 1]).

1.2. Let G/H be a spherical homogeneous space. A subalgebra of  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$  is affine if it is finitely generated and if  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$  is equal to its field of fractions. A geometric locality is a local algebra obtained by the localization of an affine subalgebra of  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$  and having residue field equal to  $\mathbb{K}$ . The set  $\mathrm{Sch}(G/H)$  of geometric localities is naturally endowed with a structure of  $\mathbb{K}$ -scheme, where the spectrum of each affine subalgebra of  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$  is an open subset. The group G acts on  $\mathrm{Sch}(G/H)$  as an abstract group; this action is induced by the G-action on  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$ . We denote by  $\mathrm{Emb}(G/H)$  the maximal G-stable normal open subset which the G-action is regular (see [LV83, Propositions 1.2 and 1.4]). An embedding of G/H is a G-stable separated noetherian open subset of  $\mathrm{Emb}(G/H)$ . If G is an algebraic torus, then an embedding of G is called a *toric variety*.

The toric varieties are described by objects from the convex geometry called fans, e.g. see [KKMS73, MO73, Oda88, Ful93]. The Luna–Vust theory is a generalization of this description for embeddings of homogeneous spaces. In the sequel, we denote by Xan affine embedding of a spherical homogeneous space G/H. We choose  $x \in X$  so that B.x is the open B-orbit.

**Definition 1.3.** Let K be an algebraic group acting on a variety Z. A K-divisor of Z is a K-stable prime divisor on Z. In our situation, a B-divisor of the spherical variety X that is not G-stable is called a *color*.

Identifying G.x with G/H we may view a color as the closure in X of a B-divisor of G/H. Thus, colors are determined by the homogeneous space G/H.

**1.4.** The algebra of rational functions  $\mathbb{K}(X) = \mathbb{K}(G/H)$  is endowed with a natural linear *B*-action. Consider the lattice *L* of *B*-weights of  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  for this action. For a *B*-eigenvector *f* in  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  we denote by  $\chi_f$  the corresponding weight. Since the quotient of two eigenvectors of the same weight is *B*-invariant and therefore constant on the open orbit *B.x*, the *B*-eigenspaces in  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  are of dimension one, hence the weight  $\chi_f$  defines *f* up to a scalar. Summarizing, we have the exact sequence

$$1 \to \mathbb{K}^* \to \mathbb{K}(X)^{(B)} \to L \to 0,$$

where  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{(B)}$  denotes the multiplicative subgroup of *B*-eigenvalues of  $\mathbb{K}(X)^*$ . The epimorphism  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{(B)} \to L$  is given by  $f \mapsto \chi_f$ .

**1.5.** Recall that a *discrete valuation* on  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  is a map  $v : \mathbb{K}(X)^* \to \mathbb{Q}$  such that

- $v(f+g) \ge \min\{v(f), v(g)\}$  for all  $f, g \in \mathbb{K}(X)^*$  satisfying  $f + g \in \mathbb{K}(X)^*$ ;
- v is a group morphism from  $(\mathbb{K}(X)^*, \times)$  to  $(\mathbb{Q}, +)$ ;
- the subgroup  $\mathbb{K}^*$  is contained in the kernel of the morphism v.

Let  $V = \text{Hom}(L,\mathbb{Z})$  be the dual lattice of L and let  $V_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} V$  be the associated  $\mathbb{Q}$ -vector space. For every discrete valuation v of  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  we associate a vector  $\varrho(v) \in V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  by letting

$$\varrho(v)(\chi_f) = \langle \chi_f, \varrho(v) \rangle = v(f) \text{ for all } f \in \mathbb{K}(X)^{(B)}$$

Since X is normal, each prime divisor  $D \subset X$  naturally defines a discrete valuation  $v_D$  on  $\mathbb{K}(X)$ . So, we may identify any subset of B-divisors with the corresponding set of discrete valuations, which we denote by the same letter.

**1.6.** A discrete valuation v on  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  is said to be *G*-invariant if every fiber of the map v is *G*-stable, for the natural linear *G*-action on  $\mathbb{K}(X)$ . It is well known that the restriction of  $\varrho$  to the subset of discrete *G*-invariant valuations is injective [LV83, Section 7.4]. Furthermore, the image of this restriction is a polyhedral cone  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (see [BP87, Corollary 3.2]), called the valuation cone of G/H. Thus, we will say that V is the valuation lattice. Recall that the spherical variety X is said to be horospherical if the isotropy group of a general point contains a maximal unipotent subgroup of G. It is well-known that X is horospherical if and only  $\mathcal{V} = V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (see [Kno91, Corollary 6.2]).

Let us introduce the classical notion of colored cone [LV83, p. 230]. In this definition, an element of L is seen as a linear form on  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$ .

**Definition 1.7.** A colored cone of the homogeneous space G/H is a pair  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$ , where

- $\mathcal{F}$  is a subset of colors of G/H such that  $0 \notin \varrho(\mathcal{F})$ ;
- $\mathcal{C} \subset V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is a strongly convex polyhedral cone generated by the union of  $\varrho(\mathcal{F})$  and of a finite subset of  $\mathcal{V}$ ;
- the intersection of the relative interior of  $\mathcal{C}$  with the cone  $\mathcal{V}$  is non-empty.

Moreover, a colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$  will be called *affine* if there exists a lattice vector  $m \in L$  satisfying the following conditions:

- m is non-positive on  $\mathcal{V}$ ;
- m is zero on C;
- *m* is positive on all colors of G/H not belonging to  $\mathcal{F}$ .

There is a natural way to build an affine colored cone of G/H from the embedding X, see [Kno91, Section 2]. In the next paragraph, we explain this construction.

**1.8.** Note that the open orbit B.x is affine (see [Tim11, Theorem 3.5]), and so its complement in X is a union of B-divisors. So, X has a finite number of B-divisors. We denote by  $\mathcal{P}$  the set of G-divisors of X identified with a subset of  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . Moreover, since X is affine, X has a unique closed G-orbit Y, which is contained in the closure of all the G-orbits of X. We denote by  $\mathcal{F}_Y$  the set of colors of X containing Y. The associated colored cone of X is the pair  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$ , where  $\mathcal{C} \subset V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is the cone generated by the union of  $\mathcal{P}$  and of the subset  $\varrho(\mathcal{F}_Y)$ . According to [Kno91, Section 2] and [Kno91, Theorem 6.7] the pair  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$  is in fact an affine colored cone of G/H. Note that the embedding X is called *toroidal* if  $\mathcal{F}_Y = \emptyset$ .

Conversely, to a colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$  of G/H one can associate an embedding.

**1.9.** Let  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$  be a colored cone of G/H. For a discrete valuation v of  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$  we write  $\mathcal{O}_v$  the corresponding local algebra. Let  $X_B$  be the open *B*-orbit in G/H.

Considering a finite subset  $\mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{V}$  such that  $\mathcal{P} \cup \varrho(\mathcal{F})$  generates the cone  $\mathcal{C}$ , we define the algebra

$$A(\mathcal{P},\mathcal{F}) = \mathbb{K}[X_B] \cap \bigcap_{v \in \mathcal{P}} \mathscr{O}_v \cap \bigcap_{D \in \mathcal{F}} \mathscr{O}_{v_D}.$$

By [LV83, Section 8],  $A(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{F})$  is a normal affine subalgebra of  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$ . The variety  $X_0 = \operatorname{Spec} A(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{F})$  does not depend on the choice of the set  $\mathcal{P}$ . Furthermore,  $X_0$  is an open subset of  $\operatorname{Emb}(G/H)$  (compare with [LV83, Proposition 8.10]). The associated spherical embedding of  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$  is the subscheme  $X = G \cdot X_0$  [LV83, Proposition 1.5]. This construction is also explained in [Tim11, Chapter 3, Section 13].

More precisely, we have the following classical result (see [Kno91, Theorem 6.7]).

**Theorem 1.10.** The map defined by sending an affine embedding X of G/H to its associated colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$  is a bijection between

- the set of affine embeddings of G/H and
- the set of affine colored cones of G/H.

The next well-known lemma will be useful afterwards (see the proof of [Kno91, 6.7]).

**Lemma 1.11.** Let X be an affine embedding of G/H with associated colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}_0$  be the set of colors of G/H. Then the cone  $\Gamma$  dual to the cone generated by the B-weights of  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  is the polyhedral cone in  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  generated by the subset  $\mathcal{C} \cup \varrho(\mathcal{F}_0)$ . In addition,  $\Gamma$  is strongly convex.

*Proof.* Let U be the unipotent part of B. Since X is affine, the field of fractions of  $\mathbb{K}[X]^U$  is equal to  $\mathbb{K}(X)^U$  (see [Tim11, Lemma D.7]). Consequently, every B-eigenvector of  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  is the quotient of two eigenvectors of  $\mathbb{K}[X]$ . This shows that  $\Gamma$  is a strongly convex cone. The rest of the proof is straightforward.  $\Box$ 

#### 2. Preliminaries on polyhedral divisors and normalized $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions

In this section, we recall some basic facts from the theory of polyhedral divisors for the case of complexity one [FZ03, AH06, Tim08]. We present also a brief survey of known results concerning the classification of normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on affine  $\mathbb{T}$ varieties of complexity one, see [FZ05], [Lie10a], [Lie10b], [AL12], [Lan13, Chapter 5], and [LL].

#### 2.1. Polyhedral divisors and affine T-varieties of complexity one.

We denote by  $\mathbb{T}$  an algebraic torus of dimension n. We fix a lattice M isomorphic to the character group of  $\mathbb{T}$  via  $m \mapsto \chi^m$ .

**Definition 2.1.** The *complexity* of a T-action on a variety X is the transcendence degree over K of the field extension  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{\mathbb{T}}$ . By a result of Rosenlicht [Ros63], the complexity is also the codimension of a general orbit in X. In particular, if the action is faithful, then the complexity is equal to dim X – dim T. A T-variety is a normal variety endowed with a faithful T-action.

Note that having a  $\mathbb{T}$ -action on an affine variety  $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$  is equivalent to endowing A with an M-grading. If  $\mathbb{T}$  acts on X and  $m \in M$ , then we define the m-th graded component of A by letting

$$A_m = \{ f \in A \mid t \cdot f = \chi^m(t) f \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{T} \}.$$

In [AH06], a combinatorial description of M-graded algebras corresponding to affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties is given in terms of polyhedral divisors. We recall this construction in the setting of the complexity one. We also introduce other notation from convex geometry which will be useful in the sequel.

**2.2.** Let  $N = \text{Hom}(M, \mathbb{Z})$  be the dual lattice of M. Denote by  $M_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M$  and  $N_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} N$  the associated vector spaces. For a polyhedral cone  $\tau \subset N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  the symbols  $\tau^{\vee}$ ,  $\text{lin.}(\tau)$ , and rel. int. $(\tau)$  stand respectively for the dual cone in  $M_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , the linear part  $(-\tau) \cap \tau$ , and the relative interior of  $\tau$ . Considering  $v \in N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  we may write  $v^{\perp} = \{m \in M_{\mathbb{Q}} | v(m) = 0\}$  for its orthogonal space and denote  $\mu(v) = \inf\{r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} | rv \in N\}$ .

For every polyhedron  $\Delta$  of  $N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  we denote by  $\Delta(r)$  the set of its *r*-dimensional faces. Let  $\sigma \subset N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  be a strongly convex polyhedral cone. A subset  $\Delta \subset N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is called a  $\sigma$ polyhedron if  $\Delta$  is a Minkowski sum  $Q + \sigma$  for a polytope<sup>1</sup>  $Q \subset N_{\mathbb{Q}}$ .

A  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over a curve C is a formal sum  $\mathfrak{D} = \sum_{z \in C} \Delta_z \cdot z$ , where each  $\Delta_z$  is a  $\sigma$ -polyhedron, with the condition that  $\Delta_z = \sigma$  for all but finitely many  $z \in C$ . The finite subset  $\{z \in C \mid \Delta_z \neq \sigma\}$  is called the *support* of  $\mathfrak{D}$ . The *degree* of  $\mathfrak{D}$ , denoted by deg  $\mathfrak{D}$ , is the Minkowski sum of all the coefficients of  $\mathfrak{D}$ , which is a  $\sigma$ -polyhedron (see [AH06, 2.12]). For a vector  $m \in M_{\mathbb{Q}}$  we let

$$\mathfrak{D}(m) = \sum_{z \in C} \min_{v \in \Delta_z(0)} \{v(m)\} \cdot z,$$

which is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on C. If C is a normal curve, then the associated M-graded algebra of  $\mathfrak{D}$  is

$$A[C,\mathfrak{D}] = \bigoplus_{m \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M} H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(\lfloor \mathfrak{D}(m) \rfloor))\chi^m.$$

The multiplication on  $A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  is defined on homogeneous elements via the maps

$$H^{0}(C, \mathcal{O}_{C}(\lfloor \mathfrak{D}(m) \rfloor))\chi^{m} \times H^{0}(C, \mathcal{O}_{C}(\lfloor \mathfrak{D}(m') \rfloor))\chi^{m'} \to H^{0}(C, \mathcal{O}_{C}(\lfloor \mathfrak{D}(m+m') \rfloor))\chi^{m+m'}$$

sending  $(f_1, f_2)$  to  $f_1 \cdot f_2$ . The polyhedral divisor  $\mathfrak{D}$  is called *linear* on a polyhedral cone  $\omega \subset M_{\mathbb{Q}}$  if

$$\mathfrak{D}(m+m') = \mathfrak{D}(m) + \mathfrak{D}(m') \text{ for all } m, m' \in \omega.$$

We denote by  $\Lambda(\mathfrak{D})$  the coarsest quasifant of  $\sigma^{\vee}$  where  $\mathfrak{D}$  is linear on each cone (see [AH06, Section 1] for details).

**Definition 2.3.** A  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor  $\mathfrak{D}$  on a normal curve C is said to be *proper* if  $\mathfrak{D}(m)$  is semi-ample for any  $m \in \sigma^{\vee}$  and big for any  $m \in \text{rel.int.}(\sigma^{\vee})$ . This condition is automatically fulfilled in case of an affine curve C. Otherwise, if C is projective, then the properness condition can be split in two parts:

- deg  $\mathfrak{D} \not\subseteq \sigma$ ;
- for any  $m \in \sigma^{\vee}$  such that  $\min_{v \in \deg \mathfrak{D}} \{v(m)\} = 0$ , *m* belongs to the boundary of  $\sigma^{\vee}$  and  $\mathfrak{D}(m)$  is a nonzero  $\mathbb{Q}$ -principal divisor.

In this paper we deal with proper polyhedral divisors over  $\mathbb{A}^1$  or  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . In this case, we have a simple characterization of the properness: a  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over  $\mathbb{P}^1$  is proper if and only if deg  $\mathfrak{D} \notin \sigma$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We recall that a polytope in a Q-vector space is the convex hull of a non-empty finite subset.

**2.4.** If  $\mathfrak{D}$  is a proper polyhedral divisor over a normal curve C, then  $X = \operatorname{Spec} A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  is an affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one. The cone  $\sigma^{\vee}$  is the weight cone of the M-graded algebra  $\mathbb{K}[X]$ . The curve C is a rational quotient of X, i.e.  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{K}(C)$ . Conversely, every affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one is obtained in this way [AH06, Theorem 3.1]. For the uniqueness of such representation, see [AH06, Section 8].

Let  $\mathfrak{D}$  be a proper  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over a normal curve C. Consider the associated algebra  $A = A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  and let  $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ . In the following paragraph we explain a classification of  $\mathbb{T}$ -divisors in terms of the pair  $(C, \mathfrak{D})$  corresponding to X. See [AH06, Section 7], [Tim08], and [PS11] for further details.

**2.5.** Let  $\sigma(1)^*$  be the following subset of  $\sigma(1)$ . If *C* is affine, then we let  $\sigma(1)^* = \sigma(1)$ . Otherwise, *C* is projective and  $\sigma(1)^*$  is the set of 1-dimensional faces of  $\sigma$  that do not meet deg  $\mathfrak{D}$ . For every element  $\rho \in \sigma(1)$  we denote by the same letter  $\rho$  its extremal ray. There are two types of  $\mathbb{T}$ -divisors in the variety *X*.

• Horizontal divisors denoted by  $D_{\rho}$  for each  $\rho \in \sigma(1)^*$ . The corresponding *M*-graded ideal of such divisor  $D_{\rho}$  is

$$I(D_{\rho}) = \bigoplus_{m \in (\sigma^{\vee} \setminus \rho^{\perp}) \cap M} A_m \chi^m, \text{ where } A_m = H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(\lfloor \mathfrak{D}(m) \rfloor))$$

A T-divisor D is horizontal if and only if the induced T-action on D is of complexity one.

• Vertical divisors denoted by  $D_{(z,v)}$ , where  $z \in C$  and  $v \in \Delta_z(0)$  is a vertex of  $\Delta_z$ . The associated *M*-graded ideal is

$$I(D_{(z,v)}) = \bigoplus_{m \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M} (A_m \cap \{f \in \mathbb{K}(C) \mid \operatorname{ord}_z f > -v(m)\})\chi^m.$$

A  $\mathbb{T}$ -divisor D is vertical if and only if the induced  $\mathbb{T}$ -action on D is of complexity zero.

Moreover, if  $f\chi^m \in A$  is homogeneous of degree m, then the corresponding principal divisor is given by the formula

$$\operatorname{div}(f\chi^m) = \operatorname{div}(f\chi^m)_{\operatorname{hor}} + \operatorname{div}(f\chi^m)_{\operatorname{ver}}$$

where

$$\operatorname{div}(f\chi^m)_{\operatorname{hor}} = \sum_{\rho \in \sigma(1)^{\star}} \rho(m) \cdot D_{\rho},$$
$$\operatorname{div}(f\chi^m)_{\operatorname{ver}} = \sum_{z \in C} \sum_{v \in \Delta_z(0)} \mu(v) \left(v(m) + \operatorname{ord}_z f\right) \cdot D_{(z,v)}$$

see [PS11, Proposition 3.14]. The divisor  $\operatorname{div}(f\chi^m)_{\operatorname{hor}}$  (resp.  $\operatorname{div}(f\chi^m)_{\operatorname{ver}}$ ) will be called the *horizontal part* (resp. *vertical part*) of  $\operatorname{div}(f\chi^m)$ .

#### 2.2. $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on affine $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity one.

In this subsection, we review results in [Lie10a] concerning the classification of normalized additive group actions on affine T-varieties of complexity one.

**2.6.** Let Z be a variety. Let

$$K \times Z \to Z, \ (g, x) \mapsto g \cdot x$$

be an action of an algebraic group K on Z. An additive group action

$$\gamma: \mathbb{G}_a \times Z \to Z, \ (\lambda, x) \mapsto \lambda * x$$

is called *normalized* by K if there exists a character  $\chi: K \to \mathbb{G}_m$  such that

$$g \cdot (\lambda * (g^{-1} \cdot x)) = (\lambda \chi^{-1}(g)) * x$$

for all  $x \in Z$ ,  $g \in K$ , and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{G}_a$ . The character  $\chi$  will be called a *degree* of  $\gamma$ . Note that if  $\gamma$  is non-trivial, then  $\chi$  is uniquely determined by  $\gamma$ .

Consider the algebraic group  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} K$ , where the underlying variety is  $\mathbb{G}_a \times K$  and the group law is given by

$$(\lambda_1, g_1) \cdot (\lambda_2, g_2) = (\lambda_1 + \chi^{-1}(g_1)\lambda_2, g_1 \cdot g_2)$$

for  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{G}_a$  and  $g_i \in K$ ; this algebraic group is the semi-direct product of  $\mathbb{G}_a$  and K associated to the character  $\chi$ . Moreover, a K-action on Z and an additive group action normalized by K of degree  $\chi$  naturally generate the action of  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} K$  on Z via the formula

$$(\lambda,g)\cdot x = \lambda \star (g\cdot x),$$

where  $(\lambda, g) \in \mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} K$  and  $x \in X$ . If K is the torus  $\mathbb{T}$  and  $e \in M$  is lattice vector, then we denote  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_e \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi^e} \mathbb{T}$ .

The following definition is introduced in [FZ05] to describe normal quasi-homogeneous affine surfaces and extended in [Lie10a, Section 1.2] to varieties with a T-action.

**Definition 2.7.** Let Z be a variety endowed with a T-action. An additive group action on Z normalized by T is called *vertical* if a general  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -orbit of Z is contained in the closure of a T-orbit. Otherwise, the action is called *horizontal*.

**2.8.** For an affine variety Z, there is a well-known one-to-one correspondence between the  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on Z and the locally nilpotent derivations on  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$  (called LNDs for brevity). Indeed, let  $\mathbb{K}[\mathbb{G}_a] = \mathbb{K}[\lambda]$  for a variable  $\lambda$  over  $\mathbb{K}$ . Then, given an LND  $\partial$  on  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$ , the morphism

$$\mathbb{K}[Z] \to \mathbb{K}[Z] \otimes_{\mathbb{K}} \mathbb{K}[\lambda], \quad f \mapsto \sum_{i \ge 0} \frac{\partial^{i}(f)}{i!} \otimes \lambda^{i},$$

defines a  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action  $\gamma_\partial$  on Z, and vice-versa. See [Fre06] for details concerning the theory of LNDs. Now assume that Z is endowed with a T-action. It is also known that  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on Z normalized by T of degree  $\chi^e$  correspond to homogeneous LNDs of degree e with respect to the M-grading on  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$  (see the proof of [FZ05, Lemma 2.2]).

For the next paragraphs, we keep the same notation as above for the  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor  $\mathfrak{D}$ . We let  $X = \operatorname{Spec} A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  be the associated affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one.

**2.9.** Let  $\partial$  be a homogeneous LND on  $\mathbb{K}[X]$ . We have the following characterization.

- $\gamma_{\partial}$  is vertical if and only if  $\mathbb{K}(C) \subset \mathbb{K}(X)^{\partial}$ , where  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{\partial} \subset \mathbb{K}(X)$  is the field of invariants.
- $\gamma_{\partial}$  is horizontal if and only if  $\mathbb{K}(C) \cap \mathbb{K}(X)^{\partial} = \mathbb{K}$ . In other words, the algebraic group  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_e \mathbb{T}$  acts on X with an open orbit.

We call the corresponding LNDs *vertical* and *horizontal* respectively. The set of non-zero vertical (resp. horizontal) LNDs on  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  is denoted by  $\mathrm{LND}_{ver}(X)$  (resp.  $\mathrm{LND}_{hor}(X)$ ).

The following paragraph presents the classical description of vertical homogeneous LNDs in complexity one. See [Lie10b] for the general case.

**2.10.** Recall from [Dem70, Section 4.5, p. 571] that a vector  $e \in M$  is a Demazure root of the cone  $\sigma$  with distinguished ray  $\rho_e \in \sigma(1)$  if  $\rho_e(e) = -1$  and  $\rho(e) \ge 0$  for all  $\rho \in \sigma(1) \setminus \{\rho_e\}$ . We denote by  $\operatorname{Rt}(\sigma)$  the set of all roots of  $\sigma$ . If  $e \in \operatorname{Rt}(\sigma)$ , then we let

$$\Phi_e^* = H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(\lfloor \mathfrak{D}(e) \rfloor)) \smallsetminus \{0\}.$$

Furthermore,  $\Phi_e^* \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $\rho_e \in \sigma(1)^*$ , see [Lie10a, Corollary 3.13]. Assume that  $\Phi_e^*$  has an element  $\varphi$ . We define a homogeneous LND  $\partial_{e,\varphi}$  of vertical type on the algebra  $A = A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  by the formula

$$\partial_{e,\varphi}(f\chi^m) = \rho_e(m)\varphi f\chi^{m+e},$$

where  $f\chi^m \in A$  is an homogeneous element of degree m, see [Lie10a, Lemma 3.6]. More precisely, let

$$\operatorname{Rt}^*(\sigma) = \{ e \in \operatorname{Rt}(\sigma) | \rho_e \in \sigma(1)^* \}.$$

Considering the set

$$\Phi = \{ (e, \varphi) \mid e \in \operatorname{Rt}^*(\sigma), \varphi \in \Phi_e^* \}$$

the map  $\Phi \to \text{LND}_{ver}(A)$ ,  $(e, \varphi) \mapsto \partial_{e,\varphi}$  is a bijection [Lie10a, Theorem 3.8].

In the sequel, we consider the case of horizontal homogeneous LNDs in complexity one. Note that if  $X = \operatorname{Spec} A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  admits a normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action of horizontal type, then either  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$  or  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$  (see [Lie10a, 3.16]). The next paragraph introduces combinatorial objects that describe homogeneous LNDs of horizontal type on A = $A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  (see [Lie10a, Section 3.2], [AL12, Section 1.4], [Lan13, Section 5.6], and [LL]). Note that our terminology will be slightly different.

**2.11.** Let  $\mathfrak{D}$  be a proper  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over  $\mathbb{A}^1$ . An (affine) AL-coloring<sup>2</sup> on the polyhedral divisor  $\mathfrak{D}$  is a triple  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet} = (\mathfrak{D}, \{v_z^{\bullet} \mid z \in \mathbb{A}^1\}, z_0)$ , where  $z_0 \in \mathbb{A}^1$ , satisfying the following conditions:

- each  $v_z^{\bullet}$  is a vertex of  $\Delta_z$ ;
- $v_{\text{deg}}^{\bullet} \coloneqq \sum_{z \in \mathbb{A}^1} v_z^{\bullet}$  is a vertex of the polyhedron deg  $\mathfrak{D} = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{A}^1} \Delta_z$ ;  $v_z^{\bullet} \in N$  for any  $z \in \mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{z_0\}$ .

The elements  $v_z^{\bullet}$  for z in the support of  $\mathfrak{D}$  are called the AL-colors of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ . The point  $z_0$  is called the *marked point* of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ . The *support* of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$  is defined as the union of the support of  $\mathfrak{D}$  and of the marked point  $z_0$ . The polyhedron

$$\omega_{\bullet} = \operatorname{Cone}(\deg \mathfrak{D} - v_{\deg}^{\bullet})$$

is called the *associated cone* of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ .

Now let  $\mathfrak{D}$  be a proper  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . A (projective) AL-coloring on the polyhedral divisor  $\mathfrak{D}$  is a quadruple  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet} = (\mathfrak{D}, \{v_z^{\bullet} \mid z \in \mathbb{A}^1\}, z_0, z_{\infty}), \text{ where } z_{\infty} \in \mathbb{P}^1,$  $\mathbb{A}^1 = \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{z_\infty\}$ , and the triple  $\mathfrak{D}^{\mathrm{aff}}_{\bullet} = (\mathfrak{D}|_{\mathbb{A}^1}, \{v_z^{\bullet} \mid z \in \mathbb{A}^1\}, z_0)$  is an affine AL-coloring. We define the AL-colors, the marked point, the associated cone, and the support of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ as those of  $\mathfrak{D}^{\mathrm{aff}}_{\bullet}$ . We also call  $z_{\infty}$  the point at the infinity of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>named by I. Arzhantsev and A. Liendo. The sign  $\bullet$  will be substituted by – and + later on, when we consider different AL-colorings of a polyhedral divisor.

*Remark* 2.12. The definition of  $\omega_{\bullet}$  is motivated by the following relation:

(1) 
$$\mathfrak{D}(m)|_{\mathbb{A}^1} = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{A}^1} v_z^{\bullet}(m) \cdot z \text{ if and only if } m \in \omega_{\bullet}^{\vee}.$$

**2.13.** Since we will consider several colorings on a same polyhedral divisor, it is convenient to represent them by a weighted graph. Let  $\{z_0, \ldots, z_r\} \subset \mathbb{A}^1$  be the support of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ , where  $z_0$  is the marked point. A representation of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$  will be drawn as

where  $v_{z_0}^{\bullet}, \ldots, v_{z_r}^{\bullet}$  are the corresponding AL-colors of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ .

. . .

Let us introduce other objects attached to a coloring of  $\mathfrak{D}$ . In the following definition, we keep the same notation as above for the AL-coloring  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ .

**Definition 2.14.** Let  $\tilde{\omega}_{\bullet} \subset (N \oplus \mathbb{Z})_{\mathbb{Q}}$  be the cone generated by  $(\omega_{\bullet}, 0)$  and  $(v_{z_0}^{\bullet}, 1)$  if  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$ , and by  $(\omega_{\bullet}, 0), (v_{z_0}^{\bullet}, 1)$ , and  $(\Delta_{z_{\infty}} + v_{deg}^{\bullet} - v_{z_0}^{\bullet} + \omega_{\bullet}, -1)$  if  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ . The polyhedral cone  $\tilde{\omega}_{\bullet}$  will be called the *domain* of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ . Let  $e \in M$ . A pair  $(\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, e)$  is said to be *coherent* if the following conditions are satisfied.

- Let  $s = -\frac{1}{d(e)} v_{z_0}^{\bullet}(e)$ , where  $d(e) = \inf\{d \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \mid dv_{z_0}^{\bullet}(e) \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . The vector (e, s)is a Demazure root of  $\tilde{\omega}_{\bullet}$ ;
- $v(e) \ge 1 + v_z^{\bullet}(e)$  for any  $z \in \mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{z_0\}$  and for any  $v \in \Delta_z(0) \setminus \{v_z^{\bullet}\}$ ;
- $v(e) \ge -s$  for any  $v \in \Delta_{z_0} \setminus \{v_{z_0}^{\bullet}\};$  If  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ , then  $v(e) \ge -\frac{1}{d(e)} v_{deg}^{\bullet}(e)$  for any  $v \in \Delta_{z_{\infty}}(0).$

The next theorem provides a description of normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions of horizontal type on the T-variety  $X = \operatorname{Spec} A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  in terms of coherent pairs [AL12, Theorem 1.10]. We fix a variable t over K such that  $z_0 = \{t = 0\}$  and  $z_{\infty} = \{t = \infty\}$  (if exists), in particular  $\mathbb{K}[\mathbb{A}^1] = \mathbb{K}[t]$ .

**Theorem 2.15.** Let  $\mathfrak{D}$  be a proper  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$  or  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$  and let  $A = A[C, \mathfrak{D}].$ 

i) Consider a triplet  $(\lambda, \mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, e)$ , where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}^*$ ,  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$  is an AL-coloring of  $\mathfrak{D}$ , and  $(\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, e)$ is a coherent pair. Assume without loss of generality that  $v_z^{\bullet} = 0$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0\}$ . Each such triplet  $(\lambda, \mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, e)$  defines a horizontal LND  $\partial$  on A via the formula

$$\partial(t^r\chi^m) = \lambda \cdot d(e) \cdot (v_0^{\bullet}(m) + r) \cdot t^{r+s}\chi^{m+e} \text{ for all } (m,r) \in M \oplus \mathbb{Z}$$

where  $s = -\frac{1}{d(e)} - v_0^{\bullet}(e)$ . The kernel of the LND  $\partial$  corresponding to the triplet  $(\lambda, \mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, e)$ is

$$\ker \,\partial = \bigoplus_{m \in \omega_{\bullet}^{\vee} \cap L} \mathbb{K} \varphi_m \chi^m,$$

where  $L = \{m \in M \mid v_0^{\bullet}(m) \in \mathbb{Z}\}, \varphi_m \in \mathbb{K}(C)^* \text{ such that } (\operatorname{div}(\varphi_m) + \mathfrak{D}(m))|_{\mathbb{A}^1} = 0, \text{ and } \mathbb{E}(\mathbb{C})^* \in \mathbb{K}(C)^* \}$  $\omega_{\bullet}$  is the associated cone of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ . Moreover,  $\omega_{\bullet}^{\vee}$  is a maximal cone of  $\Lambda(\mathfrak{D}|_{\mathbb{A}^1})$  (see 2.2). *ii)* All horizontal LNDs on A are obtained in this way.

*Remark* 2.16. More generally, if  $z_0$  is arbitrary,  $z_{\infty} = \infty$ , and  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$  be represented by

$$\cdots \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccc} v_{z_0}^{\bullet} & v_{z_1}^{\bullet} & & v_{z_k}^{\bullet} \\ \hline & & & & \\ z_0 & z_1 & & & z_k \end{array}}_{z_k} \cdots$$

then the LND  $\partial_{\bullet}$  is given by the formula

$$\partial_{\bullet}((t-z_0)^r\xi_m\chi^m) = d(e)(v_{z_0}^{\bullet}(m)+r)(t-z_0)^{r-s}\xi_{m+e}\chi^{m+e},$$

where

$$\xi_m = \prod_{i=1}^k (t - z_i)^{-v_{z_i}^{\bullet}(m)}$$
 and  $s = -\frac{1}{d(e)} - v_{z_0}^{\bullet}(e)$ .

# 2.3. Horizontal $SL_2$ -actions.

In this subsection, we recall generalities on compatible  $SL_2$ -actions (see [AL12, Section 2]) of horizontal type for affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity one.

**2.17.** We make the convention that  $SL_2$  is the algebraic group of  $2 \times 2$  matrices over  $\mathbb{K}$  with determinant one. For every  $e \in M$  we define the reductive group  $G_e = SL_2 \rtimes_e \mathbb{T}$  as follows. The underlying variety is  $SL_2 \times \mathbb{T}$  and the multiplication law is given by the relation

$$(A,t_1)\cdot(B,t_2)=(A\cdot\varepsilon_e(t_1)(B),t_1\cdot t_2),$$

where  $(A, t_1), (B, t_2) \in G_e$  and the function  $\varepsilon_e$  satisfies

$$\varepsilon_e(t) \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \chi^{-e}(t)b \\ \chi^e(t)c & d \end{pmatrix}$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{T}$  and  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL_2$ . The group  $G_e$  is the semi-direct product of  $SL_2$  and  $\mathbb{T}$  via the map  $\varepsilon_e$ .

**2.18.** In the sequel, we let  $T \subset SL_2$  be the maximal torus which consists of diagonal matrices. We also consider the root subgroups

$$U_{-} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \lambda & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| \lambda \in \mathbb{K} \right\} \text{ and } U_{+} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \lambda \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| \lambda \in \mathbb{K} \right\}$$

with respect to T. We make also the convention that  $\operatorname{SL}_2 \subset G_e$  via the natural isomorphism  $\operatorname{SL}_2 \cong \operatorname{SL}_2 \times \{1\}$ . We denote by  $B_- \subset G_e$  (resp.  $B_+ \subset G_e$ ) the Borel subgroup generated by  $U_-$  (resp.  $U_+$ ) and  $T \times \mathbb{T}$ .

In the following lemma we describe the subgroups of  $G_e$ .

**Lemma 2.19.** I. The group  $G_e$  possesses a non-trivial center

(2) 
$$Z(G_e) = \left\{ \left( \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, t \right) \mid \chi^e(t) = a^2, a, t \in \mathbb{K}^* \right\}$$

- II. Any closed subgroup of  $G_e$  up to conjugation is of one of the following types: (i) "center extension", i.e. a subgroup  $H \subset G_e$  such that the neutral component  $H^\circ$  is contained in the center Z(G).
  - (ii) quasitorus  $Q \subset T \times \mathbb{T}$  such that  $Q^{\circ} \notin Z(G_e)$ ;
  - (iii) "normalizing subgroup"  $N(Q) = Q \cup \tau Q$  such that  $Q^{\circ} \notin Z(G_e)$ , where  $\tau = (\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, s) \subset G_e$  satisfies the condition  $\tau^2 \in Q$ ;
  - (iv) semidirect product  $U_+ \rtimes Q$ , where the quasitorus Q is a subgroup of  $T \times \mathbb{T}$ ;
  - (v) semidirect product  $SL_2 \rtimes Q'$ , where the quasitorus Q' is a subgroup of  $\mathbb{T}$ .
- III. The spherical subgroups of  $G_e$  are those with a non-central neutral component, *i.e.* of types (*ii*)–(*v*).

*Proof.* Let (A,t) be an arbitrary element in  $G_e$ . Conjugating by  $(B,t^{-1}) \in G_e$ , we obtain

(3) 
$$(B \cdot \varepsilon_e(t^{-1})(A \cdot \varepsilon_e(t)(B^{-1})), t) = (B \cdot \varepsilon_e(t^{-1})(A) \cdot B^{-1}, t).$$

It is easy to see that up to conjugation we may assume A to be upper (or lower) triangular for any (A, t), and diagonal for a semisimple element  $(A, t) \in G_e$ . In particular, if (A, t) is central, then A is diagonal.

Let us study the center Z(G). Consider the conjugation of a diagonal element  $z = \left( \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, b \right) \in G$  by an arbitrary  $g = \left( \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & w \end{pmatrix}, t \right) \in G$ :

(4) 
$$g \cdot z \cdot g^{-1} = \left( \begin{pmatrix} axw - a^{-1}yz\chi^{e}(b), & (a^{-1} - a\chi^{e}(b^{-1}))xy \\ (a - a^{-1}\chi^{e}(b))wz, & a^{-1}xw - ayz\chi^{e}(b^{-1}) \end{pmatrix}, b \right)$$

So,  $z \in Z(G)$  if and only if  $a^2 = \chi^e(b)$ . So, the first statement of the lemma is proved.

Let  $H \subset G_e$  be a closed subgroup. Assume that all its elements are semisimple. Then the connected component is diagonalizable, so up to conjugation  $H^\circ \subset T \times \mathbb{T}$ .

If  $H^{\circ} \subset Z(G)$ , then our group is of type (i), i.e. a "center extension". Otherwise, there exists  $h = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, b \end{pmatrix} \in H^{\circ}$  such that  $h \notin Z(G_e)$ . Since  $H^{\circ}$  is normal in H, for any  $g = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & w \end{pmatrix}, t \end{pmatrix} \in H$  the conjugation  $g \cdot h \cdot g^{-1}$  lies in  $H^{\circ}$  and in particular is diagonal. By (4), xy = wz = 0. This is possible if g is either of form  $\begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} s & 0 \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}, * \end{pmatrix}$  or of form  $\begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & * \\ a^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, b \end{pmatrix}$ . Since  $Q = H \cap (T \times \mathbb{T})$  is a quasitorus, either H = Q or  $H = Q \cup \tau Q$  for some  $\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -a \\ a^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, b \end{pmatrix}$ . In the latter case,  $\tau^2 \in Q$ . In addition, if we conjugate H by a diagonal element, then Q is preserved and  $\tau$  can be reduced to form  $\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, b \end{pmatrix}$ .

Now assume there is  $h \in H$  that is not semisimple. By (3), we may assume up to conjugation that h is upper-triangular. Consider the Jordan decomposition  $h = h_s h_u$  into the semisimple part  $h_s$  and the unipotent part  $h_u$ . Since H is closed,  $h_u \in H$  and H contains  $U_+$ .

Let *H* be contained in the Borel subgroup  $\{(\begin{pmatrix} * & * \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}, *)\}$ . Then any element of *H* is decomposed into an element of *U* and an element of  $T \times \mathbb{T}$ . So,  $H = U \rtimes Q$ , where  $Q \subset T \times \mathbb{T}$  is a quasitorus.

Assume now that there exists  $h \in H$  that is not contained in the Borel subgroup. Then by direct computation we obtain that the subset

$$U_+ \cdot h \cdot U_+ \cdot h^{-1} \cdot U_+ \subset \mathrm{SL}_2$$

is three-dimensional and dense in SL<sub>2</sub>. Thus,  $H = SL_2 \rtimes Q, Q \subset \mathbb{T}$ .

Finally, let us describe spherical subgroups. A subgroup  $H \subset G_e$  is spherical if and only if the neutral component  $H^\circ$  is spherical. The connected subgroup  $H^\circ$  is spherical if and only if  $B \cdot H^\circ$  is dense in  $G_e$  for some Borel subgroup B. Since  $B \subset G_e$  is of codimension one, the latter condition is equivalent to  $H^\circ \notin B$ . So, a subgroup  $H \subset G_e$ is spherical if and only if  $H^\circ \notin Z(G_e)$ .

Remark 2.20. In fact, normal closed subgroups of  $G_e$  are exhausted by:

- (1) central quasitori  $Q \subset Z(G_e)$ ;
- (2) semidirect products  $SL_2 \rtimes Q'$ , where  $Q' \subset \mathbb{T}$ .

**2.21.** Let us describe a  $G_e$ -action on an affine variety Z. This is equivalent to having (see [CD03, Theorem 3])

• an *M*-grading on  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$ , and

• three derivations  $\partial_{-}, \delta, \partial_{+}$  on  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$  satisfying

$$\begin{bmatrix} \delta, \partial_{\pm} \end{bmatrix} = \pm 2\partial_{\pm} \text{ and}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \partial_{+}, \partial_{-} \end{bmatrix} = \partial_{+} \circ \partial_{-} - \partial_{-} \circ \partial_{+} = \delta$$

where  $\partial_{\pm}$  is a homogeneous LND of degree  $\pm e$  and  $\delta$  is a semi-simple derivation inducing a downgrading of the *M*-grading.

Note that  $\partial_{-}$ ,  $\partial_{+}$ , and  $\delta$  are given by the induced actions of  $U_{-}$ ,  $U_{+}$ , and T respectively, whereas the M-grading corresponds to the induced  $\mathbb{T}$ -action. Assume that the  $\mathbb{T}$ -action on Z is of complexity at least one. Then the variety Z is  $G_e$ -spherical if and only if  $\partial_{-}$ and  $\partial_{+}$  are both of horizontal type.

**2.22.** By [AL12, Corollary 2.3 (ii)], in case e = 0 we may consider the bigger torus and fall into  $e \neq 0$ . So, the classification of affine  $G_e$ -spherical varieties falls into the following categories:

- (1)  $e \neq 0$  and Z is not toric for the action of a larger torus than  $\mathbb{T}$ .
- (2)  $e \neq 0$  and Z is toric for the T-action.

**Definition 2.23.** An affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety Z satisfying (1) (resp. (2)) is called of *type* I (resp. of *type* II).

The following theorem gives a complete description of affine  $G_e$ -spherical varieties of type I in terms of polyhedral divisors (see [AL12, Theorem 2.18]). Here t is a local parameter on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  and  $0, 1, \infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$  are chosen accordingly.

**Theorem 2.24.** Let X be an affine variety with a  $G_e$ -action such that the induced  $\mathbb{T}$ -action is faithful. Then X is  $G_e$ -spherical of type I if and only if  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  is  $G_e$ -isomorphic to a rational  $G_e$ -algebra  $A = A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  enjoying the following properties.

- (a)  $\mathfrak{D} = \sum_{z \in C} \Delta_z \cdot z$  is a proper  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$  or  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$  supported in at most three points  $0, 1, \infty$ .
- (b) The horizontal LNDs ∂<sub>-</sub>, ∂<sub>+</sub> are given by the coherent pairs <sup>3</sup> (𝔅<sub>-</sub>, -e), (𝔅<sub>+</sub>, e), where the marked point of 𝔅<sub>±</sub> is 0 and the point at the infinity of 𝔅<sub>±</sub> is ∞.
- (c)  $\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{D}_{-}$ , and  $\mathfrak{D}_{+}$  are defined by the following conditions separated in two cases.
  - Either (reflexive case)  $\Delta_0 = \operatorname{Conv}(0, v_0) + \sigma$ ,  $\Delta_1 = \operatorname{Conv}(0, v_1) + \sigma$ , where  $v_0, v_1 \in N \setminus \sigma$ ,  $v_0(e) = 1$ ,  $v_1(e) = -1$ ,  $\Delta_{\infty}(0) \subset e^{\perp}$ , and  $(\pm e, -\frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}) \in \operatorname{Rt}(\tilde{\omega}_{\pm})$ . Representations of  $\mathfrak{D}_-, \mathfrak{D}_+$  are given respectively by

• Or (skew case)  $\Delta_0 = v_0 + \sigma$ ,  $\Delta_1 = \operatorname{Conv}(0, v_1) + \sigma$ , where  $2v_0, v_1 \in N \times \sigma$ ,  $2v_0(e) = 1$ ,  $v_1(e) = -1$ ,  $\Delta_{\infty}(0) \subset e^{\perp}$ , and  $(\pm e, -\frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}) \in \operatorname{Rt}(\tilde{\omega}_{\pm})$ . Representations of  $\mathfrak{D}_-, \mathfrak{D}_+$  are given respectively by

$$\cdots \underbrace{ \begin{array}{cccc} v_0 & 0 \\ \hline & & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array}} \cdots \underbrace{ \begin{array}{ccccc} v_0 & v_1 \\ \hline & & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array} \cdots \underbrace{ \begin{array}{cccccc} v_0 & v_1 \\ \hline & & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array} \cdots$$

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>By the abuse of notation we allow a coherent pair  $(\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, e)$  to denote a triplet  $(1, \mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, e)$ , cf. Theorem 2.15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The polyhedral cone  $\tilde{\omega}_{\pm}$  is the domain of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\pm}$  (see 2.14).

Remark 2.25. The LND  $\partial_{\pm}$  corresponding to the coherent pair  $(\mathfrak{D}_{\pm}, \pm e)$  in Theorem 2.24 is defined via the formulae (see the comment before [AL12, Lemma 2.16] and the proof of [AL12, Lemma 2.17])

either (reflexive case)

$$\partial_{\pm}(t^r\xi_m^{\pm}\chi^m) = \left[ \left(\frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}\right) v_0(m) + r \right] \cdot t^{r-\frac{1}{2}\mp\frac{1}{2}} \xi_{m\pm e}^{\pm} \chi^{m\pm e} \text{ for all } (m,r) \in M \oplus \mathbb{Z},$$
$$\delta(t^r\chi^m) = (v_0 - v_1)(m) \cdot t^r \chi^m \text{ for all } (m,r) \in M \oplus \mathbb{Z},$$

where  $\xi_m^{\pm} = (t-1)^{-(\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2})v_1(m)};$ 

or (skew case)

$$\partial_{\pm}(t^r\xi_m^{\pm}\chi^m) = 2(v_0(m) + r) \cdot t^{r - \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}} \xi_{m \pm e}^{\pm} \chi^{m \pm e} \text{ for all } (m, r) \in M \oplus \mathbb{Z},$$
$$\delta(t^r\chi^m) = -2v_1(m) \cdot t^r\chi^m \text{ for all } (m, r) \in M \oplus \mathbb{Z},$$

where  $\xi_m^{\pm}$  is again  $(t-1)^{-(\frac{1}{2}\pm\frac{1}{2})v_1(m)}$ .

*Remark* 2.26. The formulas for  $\partial_{\pm}$  can also be expressed for an arbitrary  $Q \in \mathbb{K}(t)$ . In reflexive case they are:

$$\partial_{-}(Q\chi^{m}) = (v_{0}(m)Q + tQ')\chi^{m-e}, \partial_{+}(Q\chi^{m}) = (v_{1}(m)Q + (t-1)Q')\chi^{m+e},$$

where  $Q' = \frac{dQ}{dt}$ . In skew case they are:

$$\partial_{-}(Q\chi^{m}) = 2(v_{0}(m)Q + tQ')\chi^{m-e},$$
  
$$\partial_{+}(Q\chi^{m}) = 2\left(\left(v_{0}(m)\left(1 - \frac{1}{t}\right) + v_{1}(m)\right)Q + (t-1)Q'\right)\chi^{m+e}.$$

# 3. Colored cones versus colored polyhedral divisors

Let  $G_e$  be the previously introduced reductive group  $SL_2 \rtimes_e \mathbb{T}$ . The purpose of this section is to express the approach of Arzhantsev–Liendo in terms of the Luna–Vust theory applied to affine  $G_e$ -spherical varieties. Sections 3.1 and 3.2 are devoted to the type I and Section 3.3 to the type II.

# 3.1. Classification of the type I.

Let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety of type I. Suppose that  $\mathbb{K}[X] = A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$ admits a presentation as in 2.24 (either skew or reflexive case). We identify the open  $G_e$ -orbit of X with a homogeneous space  $G_e/H$  so that X is its embedding.

Remark 3.1. Since X is not horospherical [AL12, Proposition 3.8], Lemma 2.19 implies that H is reductive. By the Matsushima criterion,  $G_e/H$  is affine.

# **3.2.** Denote by

the representations of  $\mathfrak{D}_-$  and  $\mathfrak{D}_+$  respectively. For instance, in the reflexive case,  $v_0^- = v_0, v_1^- = 0, v_0^+ = 0$ , and  $v_1^+ = v_1$ . For every  $m \in M$  we let

$$\varphi_m^{\pm} = (t-1)^{-v_1^{\pm}(m)} t^{-\lfloor v_0^{\pm}(m) \rfloor}.$$

Then we have

(5)

$$\ker \,\partial_{\pm} = \bigoplus_{m \in \omega_{\pm}^{\vee} \cap L} \mathbb{K} \varphi_m^{\pm} \chi^m,$$

where  $\omega_{\pm}$  is the associated cone of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\pm}$  and

$$L = \{m \in M \mid v_0^+(m) \in \mathbb{Z}\} = \{m \in M \mid v_0^-(m) \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

In the following lemma we use the notation from 2.18.

**Lemma 3.3.** Let  $A_M^{\pm} = \bigoplus_{m \in M} \mathbb{K}[t] \cdot \varphi_m^{\pm} \chi^m$ . Then the following assertions hold.

- (i) The lattice of  $B_{\pm}$ -weights of the  $B_{\pm}$ -algebra  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  is L.
- (ii) The variety  $X_M^{\pm} = \operatorname{Spec} A_M^{\pm}$  is a principal open subset of X which coincides with the open  $B_{\pm}$ -orbit.

More precisely, the supports of all divisors  $\operatorname{div}(\varphi_m^{\pm}\chi^m)$  for  $m \in \operatorname{rel.int.}(\omega_{\pm}^{\vee}) \cap L$  are equal and form the complement  $X \smallsetminus X_M^{\pm}$ .

*Proof.* (i) The first assertion results from the fact that  $B_{\pm}$ -eigenvectors in  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  are exactly quotients of non-zero homogeneous elements of ker  $\partial_{\pm}$ .

(ii) By Remark 2.12, we can add a principal polyhedral divisor to  $\mathfrak{D}$  so that for any  $m \in \text{rel.int.}(\omega_{\pm}^{\vee}) \cap L$  the divisor  $\mathfrak{D}(m)|_{\mathbb{A}^1}$  is supported in at most the point 0 and that  $\varphi_m^{\pm} = t^{-\lfloor v_0^{\pm}(m) \rfloor}$ . Let us fix  $m \in \text{rel.int.}(\omega_{\pm}^{\vee}) \cap L$  and denote  $\alpha_{\pm} = \varphi_m^{\pm} \chi^m$ . By [AHS08, Proposition 3.3], the localization  $\mathbb{K}[X]_{\alpha_{\pm}}$  is equal to  $A_M^{\pm}$ . Since  $\alpha_{\pm} \in \ker \partial_{\pm}$ , the derivation  $\partial_{\pm}$  extends to an LND on  $A_M^{\pm}$  written by the same letter  $\partial_{\pm}$ . Hence,  $X_M^{\pm}$ is a  $B_{\pm}$ -stable principal open subset of X.

Let us deduce that  $X_M^{\pm}$  is the open  $B_{\pm}$ -orbit. Denote by  $E_M^{\pm}$  the normalization of the algebra  $A_M^{\pm}[\sqrt[d]{\varphi_{\pm de}^{\pm}}\chi^{\pm e}]$ , where d = d(e). Then the inclusion  $A_M^{\pm} \subset E_M^{\pm}$  yields a finite surjective map

$$\pi: Z_M^{\pm} = \operatorname{Spec} E_M^{\pm} \to X_M^{\pm}.$$

By [Lan13, Corollary 5.3.6], the derivation  $\partial_{\pm}$  admits a unique extension to  $E_M^{\pm}$ , hence there is a natural  $B_{\pm}$ -action on  $Z_M^{\pm}$  and  $\pi$  is  $B_{\pm}$ -equivariant. Denote  $\zeta = \sqrt[4]{t}$ . The map

$$\gamma: E_M^{\pm} \to \mathbb{K}[M][\zeta] = \bigoplus_{m \in M} \mathbb{K}[\zeta]\chi^m, \quad \zeta^l \chi^m \mapsto \zeta^{l+dv_0^{\pm}(m)} \chi^m$$

is an isomorphism of M-graded algebras. Consider the extension of  $\partial_{\pm}$  to  $E_M^{\pm}$  denoted by  $\tilde{\partial}_{\pm}$  and introduce  $\tilde{\partial}'_{\pm} = \gamma \circ \tilde{\partial}_{\pm} \circ \gamma^{-1}$ , which is a homogeneous LND on  $\mathbb{K}[M][\zeta]$ . Then the induced  $B_{\pm}$ -action on Spec  $\mathbb{K}[M][\zeta] \cong \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{A}^1$  is transitive, and so is the  $B_{\pm}$ action on  $Z_M^{\pm}$ . Since  $\pi$  is  $B_{\pm}$ -equivariant and surjective, the  $B_{\pm}$ -action on  $X_M^{\pm}$  is also transitive.

Now we give an explicit description of the  $B_{\pm}$ -divisors on X and compute their images in the vector space  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (see 1.4, 1.5), where  $V = \text{Hom}(L,\mathbb{Z})$  is the valuation lattice. Note that  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is identified with  $N_{\mathbb{Q}}$ .

**Proposition 3.4.** Denote by  $\varrho_{\pm}$  the map that sends a discrete valuation  $\nu$  of  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  into the linear form  $\varrho_{\pm}(\nu) \in V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  defined as follows. For any  $B_{\pm}$ -eigenvector  $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}(X)$  of weight  $\chi_{\alpha} \in L$  we let

$$\varrho_{\pm}(\nu)(\chi_{\alpha}) = \nu(\alpha).$$

To simplify the notation, we also let  $\varrho(D) = \varrho(v_D)$  for a prime divisor  $D \subset X$ . Then the colors of X are given in the following table in accordance with notation 2.5.

16

	Reflexive case	Skew case
$B_{-}$ -action	$\varrho_{-}(D_{(0,0)}) = -v_0, \ \varrho_{-}(D_{(1,v_1)}) = v_1$	$\varrho_{-}(D_{(1,v_1)}) = v_1$
$B_+$ -action	$\varrho_+(D_{(0,v_0)}) = v_0, \ \varrho_+(D_{(1,0)}) = -v_1$	$\varrho_+(D_{(1,0)}) = -v_1$

Moreover, the  $G_e$ -divisors on X are exhausted by  $D_\rho$  for  $\rho \in \sigma(1)^*$  and  $D_{(\infty,v)}$  for  $v \in \Delta_{\infty}(0)$ . We have  $\varrho_{\pm}(D_{\rho}) = \rho$  for all  $\rho \in \sigma(1)^*$ . The images of the vertical  $G_e$ -divisors are given in the following table.

	Reflexive case	Skew case
$B_{-}$ -action	$\varrho_{-}(D_{(\infty,v)}) = \mu(v)(v_0 + v)$	$\varrho_{-}(D_{(\infty,v)}) = \mu(v)(v_0 + v)$
$B_+$ -action	$\varrho_+(D_{(\infty,v)}) = \mu(v)(v_1 + v)$	$\varrho_+(D_{(\infty,v)}) = \mu(v)(v_0 + v_1 + v)$

*Proof.* We will illustrate our calculation method on the  $B_+$ -action in the reflexive case. It can be easily adapted to the remaining cases that are left to the reader.

A representation of  $\mathfrak{D}_+$  in the reflexive case is given by

$$\cdots \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 0 & v_1 \\ & & & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array} } \cdots$$

Let  $m \in \text{rel.int.}(\omega_+^{\vee}) \cap L$ . We have  $\varphi_m^+ = (t-1)^{-v_1(m)}$ . By Lemma 3.3, the  $B_+$ -divisors of X are exactly the irreducible components of the support of the principal divisor

$$\operatorname{div}(\varphi_m^+\chi^m) = \sum_{\rho \in \sigma(1)^*} \rho(m) \cdot D_\rho + \sum_{z \in \{0,1,\infty\}} \sum_{v \in \Delta_z(0)} \mu(v)(v(m) + \operatorname{ord}_z \varphi_m^+) \cdot D_{(z,v)}$$

Since  $m \in \text{rel.int.}(\sigma^{\vee})$ , the integer  $\rho(m)$  is non-zero for every  $\rho \in \sigma(1)^*$ . Hence all the horizontal divisors on X are  $B_+$ -stable.

An easy computation shows that the vertical part of div( $\varphi_m^+ \chi^m$ ) is

$$\operatorname{div}(\varphi_m^+\chi^m)_{\operatorname{vert}} = \Sigma_0 + \Sigma_1 + \Sigma_\infty,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_0 &= v_0(m) \cdot D_{(0,v_0)},\\ \Sigma_1 &= -v_1(m) \cdot D_{(1,0)},\\ \Sigma_\infty &= \sum_{v \in \Delta_\infty(0)} \mu(v)(v+v_1)(m) \cdot D_{(\infty,v)}. \end{split}$$

We may choose m such that  $v_0(m)$  and  $v_1(m)$  are nonzero. By Lemma 3.3, this holds for every  $m \in \text{rel.int.}(\omega_+^{\vee}) \cap L$ . Hence the divisors  $\Sigma_0$  and  $\Sigma_1$  are nonzero, and so  $D_{(0,v_0)}, D_{(1,0)}$  are  $B_+$ -stable. Furthermore, since  $\mathfrak{D}$  is proper,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\infty} \varphi_m^+ + \min_{v \in \Delta_{\infty}(0)} v(m) > 0.$$

Thus, for all  $v \in \Delta_{\infty}(0)$ ,  $(v_1 + v)(m) > 0$ . This shows that the vertical divisors of the form  $D_{(\infty,v)}$  are  $B_+$ -stable.

Making the same computation for the divisor  $\operatorname{div}(\varphi_m^-\chi^m)$  where  $m \in \operatorname{rel.int.}(\omega_-^\vee) \cap L$ , we obtain that the divisors of the form  $D_\rho$  and  $D_{(\infty,v)}$  are  $B_-$ -stable. Hence they form the set of  $G_e$ -divisors of X.

The divisors  $D_{(0,v_0)}$  and  $D_{(1,0)}$  do not appear in the support of  $\operatorname{div}(\varphi_m^-\chi^m)$ . This implies that  $D_{(0,v_0)}$ ,  $D_{(1,0)}$  are the colors of X for the  $B_+$ -action. Finally, one concludes

by the formula

$$\operatorname{div}(\varphi_m^+\chi^m) = \sum_{\rho \in \sigma(1)^*} \varrho_+(D_\rho)(m) \cdot D_\rho + \sum_{z \in \{0,1,\infty\}} \sum_{v \in \Delta_z(0)} \varrho_+(D_{(z,v)})(m) \cdot D_{(z,v)}.$$

Remark 3.5. Let us consider the subalgebra  $A^h = A[\mathbb{A}^1, \mathfrak{D}_{G_e/H}] \subset \mathbb{K}(t)[M]$  defined by the polyhedral divisor

$$\mathfrak{D}_{G_e/H} = \Delta(G_e/H)_0 \cdot \{0\} + \Delta(G_e/H)_1 \cdot \{1\}$$

with the conditions  $\Delta(G_e/H)_0 = \text{Conv}(0, v_0)$ ,  $\Delta(G_e/H)_1 = \text{Conv}(0, v_1)$  in the reflexive case, and  $\Delta(G_e/H)_0 = \{v_0\}$ ,  $\Delta(G_e/H)_1 = \text{Conv}(0, v_1)$  otherwise.

Then  $\mathbb{K}[X] \subset A^h$ , and  $A^h$  is  $G_e$ -stable as a subalgebra of  $\mathbb{K}(X)$ . Therefore,  $X^h =$ Spec  $A^h$  is an embedding of  $G_e/H$ , see 1.2. Since  $X^h$  does not include  $G_e$ -divisors by Proposition 3.4, and  $G_e/H$  is affine by Remark 3.1,  $X^h = G_e/H$ . So, the polyhedral divisor  $\mathfrak{D}_{G_e/H}$  characterizes the open orbit.

The closed  $G_e$ -orbit  $Y \subset X$  is described as follows.

**Lemma 3.6.** The vanishing ideal of Y is

$$I = \bigoplus_{m \in (\sigma^{\vee} \setminus \text{lin.}(\sigma^{\vee})) \cap M} A_m \chi^m, \text{ where } A_m = H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(\lfloor \mathfrak{D}(m) \rfloor))$$

*Proof.* Let  $R = \mathbb{K}[X]/I$  and  $Z = \operatorname{Spec} R$ . We will prove that Z = Y.

Case  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$ . Since I is generated by  $\bigcup_{\rho \in \sigma(1)} I(D_\rho)$ , the ideal I is  $G_e$ -stable and R is a rational  $G_e$ -algebra. Let us describe R in terms of polyhedral divisors. Consider the projection  $\pi : N \to \tilde{N}$ , where  $\tilde{N} = N/(\lim_{\to} (\sigma^{\vee})^{\perp} \cap N)$ . The lattice  $\tilde{N}$  is the dual of  $\lim_{\to} (\sigma^{\vee}) \cap M$ . Let  $\tilde{\mathfrak{D}}$  be the polyhedral divisor with coefficients in  $\tilde{N}_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \tilde{N}$  given by

$$\hat{\mathfrak{D}} = \operatorname{Conv}(0, \pi(v_0)) \cdot \{0\} + \operatorname{Conv}(0, \pi(v_1)) \cdot \{1\},\$$

in the reflexive case, and by

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{D}} = \{\pi(v_0)\} \cdot \{0\} + \operatorname{Conv}(0, \pi(v_1)) \cdot \{1\}$$

in the skew case. Note that  $e \in \text{lin.}(\sigma^{\vee}) \setminus \{0\}$  (see [Lie10a, Lemma 3.1]) and  $\pi(v_0), \pi(v_1)$  are nonzero. We have a  $G_e$ -equivariant isomorphism  $R \cong A[C, \tilde{\mathfrak{D}}]$ . The induced homogeneous LNDs on  $A[C, \tilde{\mathfrak{D}}]$  are horizontal and represented by the graphs

In particular, Z is an affine spherical variety of type I which is homogeneous under  $G_e$ , according to Remark 3.5. So, Z is the closed  $G_e$ -orbit.

Case  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ . By properness of  $\mathfrak{D}$ , every homogeneous element of degree  $m \in \lim_{i \to \infty} (\sigma^{\vee}) \cap M$  is invertible and so belongs to  $\ker \partial_{-} \cap \ker \partial_{+}$ . Hence I is  $G_e$ -stable. Furthermore, the  $\mathbb{T}$ -action on Z is transitive. This allows us to conclude.

The following theorem provides the Luna–Vust description of the affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety X in terms of its AL-colorings  $\mathfrak{D}_-, \mathfrak{D}_+$ .

**Theorem 3.7.** Let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety admitting a presentation as in Theorem 2.24. Then the following statements hold.

(i) If  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$  then X is a toroidal spherical variety with colored cone  $(\sigma, \emptyset)$ .

(ii) If  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$  then the colored cone of X is given by the following table.

	Reflexive case	Skew case
$B_{-}$ -action	$(\omega_{-}, \{D_{(0,0)}, D_{(1,v_1)}\})$	$\left(\omega_{-}, D_{(1,v_1)}\right)$
$B_+$ -action	$(\omega_+, \{D_{(0,v_0)}, D_{(1,0)}\})$	$(\omega_+, D_{(1,0)})$

*Proof.* By Proposition 3.4 and Lemma 3.6, the closed orbit is contained in all colors of X in the case  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$  and is not contained in any colors in the case  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$ . In the former case, one concludes by Lemma 1.11.

#### 3.2. Horizontal and vertical $G_e$ -invariant valuations.

As before, X is an affine embedding of type I of a spherical homogeneous space  $G_e/H$  with the associated colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$ . In this subsection, we provide the representation of  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  by a polyhedral divisor and AL-colorings in terms of  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$ . For this, we examine the valuation cone of  $G_e/H$ .

**3.8.** Without loss of generality, we may suppose that  $\mathbb{K}[G_e/H]$  is equal to the  $G_e$ -algebra  $A[\mathbb{A}^1, \mathfrak{D}_{G_e/H}]$  defined in Remark 3.5. Thus, a variety Z is an affine embedding of  $G_e/H$  if and only if  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$  is a  $G_e$ -stable normal affine subalgebra of  $A[\mathbb{A}^1, \mathfrak{D}_{G_e/H}]$ .

Inspired by [Tim08], we introduce the following terminology.

**Definition 3.9.** A non-trivial  $G_e$ -invariant valuation v on  $\mathbb{K}(G_e/H)$  is called *horizontal* (or *central*) if v is trivial on the subfield  $\mathbb{K}(t)$ . Otherwise, v is said to be *vertical*. We denote by  $\mathcal{V}_{hor}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{V}_{vert}$ ) the subset of horizontal (resp. vertical) valuations in the valuation cone  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $G_e/H$ .

We make the convention that  $\mathcal{V}_{hor} \cap \mathcal{V}_{vert} = \{0\}$ , i.e. the trivial valuation is both horizontal and vertical. For the next result, we emphasize that vectors in  $N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  are regarded as primitive with respect to the valuation lattice  $V = \text{Hom}(L, \mathbb{Z})$ .

**Lemma 3.10.** Consider the  $B_{\pm}$ -action on  $G_e/H$ . Then  $\mathcal{V} = (\mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}(\mp e))^{\vee}$ . Further, denote

$$S = \operatorname{Cone}(-\rho_+(\mathcal{F}_0)),$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_0$  is the set of colors of  $G_e/H$ . Then  $\mathcal{V}_{hor} \cap (\mathcal{V} \setminus S) = e^{\perp} \setminus \{0\}$ .

*Proof.* Let us show that  $\mathcal{V} = \operatorname{Cone}(\mp e)^{\vee}$  with respect to the  $B_{\pm}$ -action. For any primitive  $\rho \in e^{\pm} \setminus \{0\}$ , let us define the affine embedding  $Z = \operatorname{Spec} A[\mathbb{A}^1, \mathfrak{D}_{\rho}]$  of  $G_e/H$  via

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\rho} = \Delta_0^{\rho} \cdot \{0\} + \Delta_1^{\rho} \cdot \{1\},$$

where  $\Delta_0^{\rho}$  and  $\Delta_1^{\rho}$  are as in Theorem 2.24 with  $\sigma = \text{Cone}(\rho)$ . Then by Proposition 3.4, Z has a unique horizontal  $G_e$ -divisor  $D_{\rho}$ , hence  $\rho = \varrho_{\pm}(D_{\rho})$  is contained in  $\mathcal{V}$ . This yields  $e^{\perp} \subset \mathcal{V}_{\text{hor}}$ . Using again Proposition 3.4, we may construct an affine embedding of  $G_e/H$  having a vertical  $G_e$ -divisor  $D_{(v,\infty)}$  such that  $\varrho_{\pm}(D_{(v,\infty)}) \in \{v \in N_{\mathbb{Q}} \mid \pm e(v) > 0\}$ . Hence

$$\operatorname{Cone}((\mp e)^{\vee}) = \operatorname{Cone}\left(e^{\perp} \cup \varrho_{\pm}(D_{(v,\infty)})\right) \subset \mathcal{V}.$$

Since  $G_e/H$  is not horospherical, by [Kno91, Corollary 6.2] we obtain  $\mathcal{V} = \text{Cone}(\mp e)^{\vee}$ . Take a primitive vector  $v \in \mathcal{V} \setminus S$  and consider the colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$  of  $G_e/H$ 

given by the following conditions:

- (1)  $\mathcal{F}_Y$  is the set of all colors of  $G_e/H$ ;
- (2)  $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}v + \sum_{D \in \mathcal{F}_Y} \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}\varrho(D).$

We note that  $\mathcal{C}$  is strongly convex, since  $v \notin S$ . Assume further that  $v \notin e^{\perp}$ . In this case  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$  is an affine colored cone. Indeed,  $\varrho(\mathcal{F}_Y) \cap \mathcal{V} = \emptyset$  by Proposition 3.4, and we set m = 0 in Definition 1.7. Let Z' be the embedding corresponding to  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$ . Then Z' is not toroidal and so admits a presentation  $\mathbb{K}[Z'] = A[\mathbb{P}^1, \mathfrak{D}']$  as in Theorem 2.24. By 3.4, the only  $G_e$ -divisor D' on Z' is vertical and  $\varrho(D') = v$ . Thus,  $v \in \mathcal{V}_{vert}$ . The assertion follows.

Remark 3.11. The primitive vectors in  $\mathcal{V} \smallsetminus S$  are exactly the images of the  $G_e$ -divisors of all affine embeddings of  $G_e/H$ .

**Definition 3.12.** Given a vector  $v \in N_{\mathbb{Q}} \times e^{\perp}$ , we introduce the following function  $\beta_v : N_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{Q}$ . Consider the linear projection  $\pi_v : N_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{Q} \cdot v$  along  $e^{\perp}$ . Then given  $x \in N_{\mathbb{Q}}, \beta_v(x)$  is the unique rational number such that  $\pi_v(x) = \beta_v(x)v$ . We say that  $\pi_v$  is the projection defining  $\beta_v$ .

This notation is used in the following proposition that introduces the explicit construction of the AL-colorings corresponding to an affine embedding of  $G_e/H$  of type I. This is the inverse of Theorem 3.7.

**Proposition 3.13.** Let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety of type I, whose open  $G_e$ orbit is identified with the homogeneous space  $G_e/H$ . Let  $\beta_-$  be  $\beta_{v_0}$  and  $\beta_+$  be either  $\beta_{v_1}$  in the reflexive case or  $\beta_{v_0+v_1}$  in the skew case (cf. latter table in Proposition 3.4). Denote

$$\mathcal{C}_{\pm}^{\mathrm{vert}} = \left\{ \frac{v}{\beta_{\pm}(v)} \mid v \in \mathcal{C}(1), v(e) > 0 \right\}.$$

Let  $\sigma \in N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  be the strongly convex polyhedral cone equal to either

$$\sigma = \operatorname{Cone}(\mathcal{C}(1) \cap e^{\perp}, \mathcal{C}_{\pm}^{\operatorname{vert}}, \mathcal{C}_{\pm}^{\operatorname{vert}} \pm v_0, \mathcal{C}_{\pm}^{\operatorname{vert}} \mp v_1, \mathcal{C}_{\pm}^{\operatorname{vert}} \pm v_0 \mp v_1)$$

in the reflexive case or

$$\sigma = \operatorname{Cone}(\mathcal{C}(1) \cap e^{\perp}, \mathcal{C}_{\pm}^{\operatorname{vert}}, \mathcal{C}_{\pm}^{\operatorname{vert}} \neq v_1)$$

in the skew case. We have  $\mathbb{K}[X] = A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$ , where  $\mathfrak{D}$  is a  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$ , if  $\mathcal{C} \subset e^{\perp}$ , and over  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ , otherwise. The non-trivial coefficients of  $\mathfrak{D}$  are defined as follows (see 3.5).

$$\Delta_0 = \Delta(G_e/H)_0 + \sigma, \ \Delta_1 = \Delta(G_e/H)_1 + \sigma, \text{ and}$$
$$\Delta_\infty = \operatorname{Conv}\left(\left\{\frac{v - \pi_{\pm}(v)}{\beta_{\pm}(v)} \middle| v \in \mathcal{C}(1) \setminus e^{\perp}\right\}\right) + \sigma \text{ if } C = \mathbb{P}^1,$$

where  $\pi_{\pm}$  is the projection defining  $\beta_{\pm}$ .

*Proof.* First, we note by [Kno91, Lemma 2.4] that  $\mathcal{C}(1) \cap \mathcal{V}$  consists exactly of images in  $N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  of the  $G_e$ -divisors of X, and elements of  $\mathcal{C}(1) \cap e^{\perp}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{C}(1) \setminus e^{\perp}$ ) correspond to horizontal (resp. vertical)  $G_e$ -divisors.

The  $G_e$ -algebra  $\mathbb{K}[X] = A[C, \mathfrak{D}]$  admits a presentation as in Theorem 2.24, where  $\mathfrak{D}$  is a  $\sigma'$ -polyhedral divisor for some strongly convex polyhedral cone  $\sigma' \subset N_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . Using

Proposition 3.4 and Theorem 3.7, we remark that  $\sigma \subset N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is generated by  $\sigma'(1)$  if  $C = \mathbb{A}^1$ and by  $\sigma'(1)^*$  and deg  $\mathfrak{D}$  if  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ . Hence  $\sigma = \sigma'$ . Clearly, we have  $\Delta_0 = \Delta(G/H)_0 + \sigma$ and  $\Delta_1 = \Delta(G/H)_1 + \sigma$ . For the case  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ , the description of  $\Delta_{\infty}$  follows again from 3.4.

# 3.3. Classification of the type II.

In this subsection, we explain the connection between Demazure roots and affine colored cones for the type II. Let e be a nonzero vector of M. Note by [AL12, Proposition 3.8] an affine  $G_e$ -variety X is not of type I if and only if X is horospherical. The following result shows that an affine  $G_e$ -spherical X that is not of type I can be assumed to be of type II for a larger reductive group.

**Lemma 3.14.** Let  $\Omega$  be a quasi-affine  $G_e$ -horospherical homogeneous space. Assume that the induced  $\mathbb{T}$ -action on  $\Omega$  is of complexity one. Then there exists an open subset  $\tilde{\Omega}$  of the affine closure  $\bar{\Omega} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[\Omega]$ , which is a homogeneous space under a reductive group  $\tilde{G}_{\tilde{e}} = \operatorname{SL}_2 \rtimes_{\tilde{e}} \tilde{\mathbb{T}}$  containing  $G_e$  with the following properties.

- (a) The torus  $\mathbb{T}$  is a subtorus of  $\tilde{\mathbb{T}}$ .
- (b) The  $\mathbb{T}$ -action on  $\Omega$  is of complexity 0.
- (c)  $\tilde{\Omega}$  is an embedding of the  $G_e$ -spherical homogeneous space  $\Omega$ .

Moreover, the inclusion map  $\Omega \to \tilde{\Omega}$  naturally identifies the affine  $G_e$ -embeddings of  $\Omega$  with the affine  $\tilde{G}_{\tilde{e}}$ -embeddings of  $\tilde{\Omega}$ .

Proof. First of all,  $\mathbb{K}[\Omega]$  is finitely generated, so  $\Omega = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[\Omega]$  is an affine variety and  $\operatorname{codim}_{\overline{\Omega}}(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \Omega) \geq 2$ . Since the SL<sub>2</sub>-action induced by  $G_e$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  is horospherical and horizontal, [AL12, Proposition 3.8] implies the existence of the  $\tilde{G}_{\tilde{e}}$ -homogeneous space  $\widetilde{\Omega} \subset \overline{\Omega}$  that is a  $G_e$ -equivariant embedding of  $\Omega$ .

Moreover, let X be an affine  $G_e$ -embedding of  $\Omega$ . The  $\tilde{G}'_{\tilde{e}'}$ -action on X is constructed in [AL12, Proposition 3.8] by extending the torus  $\mathbb{T} \subset G_e$  by the torus S commuting with  $G_e$ , see [AL12, Corollary 3.4]. The torus S corresponds to the grading defined by the decomposition into isotypic components with respect to the SL<sub>2</sub>-action. Hence it does not depend on the embedding X. Therefore,  $\tilde{G}'_{\tilde{e}'} = \tilde{G}_{\tilde{e}}$  and  $\tilde{G}_{\tilde{e}}$ -action on X is the extension of  $\tilde{G}_{\tilde{e}}$ -action on  $\tilde{\Omega}$ .

For the next paragraphs, we let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety of type II and assume that T-action on X is faithful.

**3.15.** Since the torus  $\mathbb{T}$  acts on X with an open orbit, we may represent the M-graded algebra  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  as the semigroup algebra

$$\mathbb{K}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap M] = \bigoplus_{m \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M} \mathbb{K}\chi^{m},$$

where  $\sigma \subset N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is a strongly convex polyhedral cone. For any  $m \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M$  the character  $\chi^m : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{G}_m$  is identified with a regular function on X. Recall that the set of *semi-simple roots* [Oda88, Section 3.4] of  $\sigma$  is

$$\operatorname{Rt}_{\mathrm{ss}}(\sigma) = \operatorname{Rt}(\sigma) \cap (-\operatorname{Rt}(\sigma)).$$

By [AL12, Theorem 2.7], we have  $e \in \operatorname{Rt}_{ss}(\sigma)$ . Denoting by  $\rho_{\pm}$  the distinguished ray of  $\pm e$ , the  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ -triplet on  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  corresponding to the  $G_e$ -action on X is  $\{\partial_-, \delta, \partial_+\}$ , where  $\partial_{\pm}(\chi^m) = \langle m, \rho_{\pm} \rangle \chi^{m \pm e}$  for all  $m \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M$ , and  $\delta = [\partial_+, \partial_-]$ .

Lemma 3.16. The following assertions hold.

- (i) The lattice  $L_{\pm}$  of  $B_{\pm}$ -weights of  $\mathbb{K}(X)$  is the sublattice of M generated by  $\tau_{\pm} \cap M$ , where  $\tau_{\pm} \subset \sigma^{\vee}$  is the dual facet of the ray  $\rho_{\pm} \subset \sigma$ .
- (ii) The open  $B_{\pm}$ -orbit on X is  $X_{B_{\pm}} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[\rho_{\pm}^{\vee} \cap M].$
- (iii) The open  $G_e$ -orbit on X is the toric  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety  $X_{\Sigma}$  associated to the fan  $\Sigma = \{\rho_{-}, \{0\}, \rho_{+}\}.$

*Proof.* (i) This follows from the equality ker  $\partial_{\pm} = \mathbb{K}[\tau_{\pm} \cap M]$ .

(ii)  $X_{B_{\pm}} \cong \mathbb{A}^1 \times \mathbb{G}_m^{n-1}$ , where  $n = \dim \mathbb{T}$ , is an open  $B_{\pm}$ -stable subset of X. It consists of two  $\mathbb{T}$ -orbits, namely  $\{0\} \times \mathbb{G}_m^{n-1}$  and  $\mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m^{n-1} \cong \mathbb{T}$ . Since a  $U_{\pm}$ -orbit, which is an affine line, cannot be contained in neither  $\mathbb{T}$ -orbit, one concludes.

(iii) By the above step, the open  $B_{\pm}$ -orbit corresponds to the fan  $\{\{0\}, \rho_{\pm}\}$ , hence the open  $G_e$ -orbit contains  $X_{\Sigma}$ . So it remains to show that  $X_{\Sigma}$  is SL<sub>2</sub>-stable. The coordinate ring of  $X_{\Sigma}$  is  $\mathbb{K}[\Lambda \cap M]$ , where  $\Lambda = \rho_{-}^{\vee} \cap \rho_{+}^{\vee} \subset M_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . Since  $\mathbb{K}[X_{\Sigma}]$  is SL<sub>2</sub>-stable, it remains to show that the complement Spec( $\mathbb{K}[\Lambda \cap M]$ )  $\smallsetminus X_{\Sigma}$  is also SL<sub>2</sub>-stable. The ideal of the complement

$$I = \bigoplus_{m \in (\Lambda \setminus \operatorname{lin}(\Lambda)) \cap M} \mathbb{K}\chi^m \subset \mathbb{K}[\Lambda^{\vee} \cap M]$$

is  $\partial_{\pm}$ -stable, which proves the assertion.

Remark 3.17. Given an affine horospherical embedding X, the associated colored cone is  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$ , where  $\mathcal{F}$  is the set of all colors of X, see Definition 1.7. In particular, for any affine embedding of  $X_{\Sigma}$  the associated colored cone contains exactly one color.

The main result of this subsection is the following proposition. It can also be obtained from [AKP13, Theorem 1.1].

**Proposition 3.18.** Let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety of type II. Assume that the induced  $\mathbb{T}$ -action on X is faithful.

(i) Assume that X is the toric  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety corresponding to the strongly convex cone  $\sigma \in N_{\mathbb{O}}$ . Let  $\omega_{\pm}$  be the image of the cone

$$\sum_{\epsilon \sigma(1) \smallsetminus \{\rho_{\pm}\}} \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0} \cdot \rho \subset \sigma$$

under the projection  $N_{\mathbb{Q}} \to (V_{\pm})_{\mathbb{Q}} = \text{Hom}(L_{\pm}, \mathbb{Q}) = (N/\langle \rho_{\pm} \rangle)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , and  $D_{\rho_{\pm}}$  be the  $\mathbb{T}$ -divisor on X corresponding to the ray  $\rho_{\pm}$ . Then the associated colored cone of X in  $(V_{\pm})_{\mathbb{Q}}$  with respect to the  $B_{\pm}$ -action is  $(\omega_{\pm}, D_{\rho_{\pm}})$ .

(ii) Conversely, assume that X is an affine embedding of the  $G_e$ -homogeneous space  $X_{\Sigma}$  (see 3.16) given by a colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, D_{\pm})$ , where  $D_{\pm}$  is the color of X for the  $B_{\pm}$ -action. Then X is equal to the toric  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety Spec  $\mathbb{K}[\mathcal{C}^{\vee} \cap \rho_{\pm}^{\vee} \cap M]$ , where  $\rho_{\pm} \in N$  is the primitive vector corresponding to the  $\mathbb{T}$ -divisor  $D_{\pm}$ .

*Proof.* (i) By Lemma 3.16, the  $G_e$ -divisors of X correspond to elements of  $\sigma(1) \setminus \{\rho_-, \rho_+\}$  and the image of the unique color (with respect to  $B_{\pm}$ ) is  $\rho_{\pm}$ .

Assertion (ii) follows directly from (i).

#### 4. Demazure roots and affine spherical varieties

The existence of normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on an affine spherical variety imposes restrictive conditions on its geometric structure. We study some of these conditions in the

framework of the Luna–Vust theory. In particular, we define the notion of Demazure roots of an affine spherical embedding X (see 4.3), which describes the normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on X. Section 4.2 is devoted to the example of affine  $G_e$ -spherical varieties, where  $G_e$  is the reductive group  $\mathrm{SL}_2 \rtimes_e \mathbb{T}$ .

#### 4.1. General case.

We denote by G a connected reductive group and fix a Borel subgroup  $B \subset G$ . We also let U be the unipotent radical of B. We begin with a preliminary lemma.

**Lemma 4.1.** Let Z be a quasi-affine variety endowed with a G-action. Let  $\partial$  be an LND on  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$ . Then the  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action corresponding to  $\partial$  is normalized of degree  $\chi$  if and only if

$$g \cdot \partial(f) = \chi(g) \cdot \partial(g \cdot f)$$

for all  $f \in \mathbb{K}[Z]$  and  $g \in G$ . If the latter condition holds, then  $\partial$  sends B-eigenvectors into B-eigenvectors. Furthermore, if Z contains an open B-orbit and  $\partial$  is nonzero, then  $\partial$  is uniquely determined by the character  $\chi$  up to the multiplication by a nonzero constant.

*Proof.* See [FKZ13, Section 1.1] for the existence and properties of the LND  $\partial$ . The first claims are obtained similarly to the proof of [FZ05, Lemma 2.2]. Moreover, for any  $b \in B$  and B-eigenvector  $f \in \mathbb{K}[Z]$  with B-weight  $\chi_f$ , one has

$$b \cdot \partial(f) = \chi(b) \cdot \partial(b \cdot f) = (\chi \cdot \chi_f)(b) \cdot \partial(f).$$

Hence,  $\partial$  sends *B*-eigenvectors into *B*-eigenvectors.

Assume that Z contains an open B-orbit. Passing to the normalization, we may suppose that Z is normal. Since the semi-simple G-module  $\mathbb{K}[Z]$  has no multiplicities, the subalgebra  $\mathbb{K}[Z]^U$  is a  $\partial$ -stable normal finitely generated semi-group algebra. Furthermore, the restriction  $\partial'$  of  $\partial$  on  $\mathbb{K}[Z]^U$  is a homogeneous LND. Since every simple submodule of  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  is generated by G.f for some B-weight  $f \in \mathbb{K}[X]$ ,  $\partial$  is uniquely determined by  $\partial'$ . One concludes by [Lie10a, Corollary 2.8].

In the sequel, we fix an affine embedding X of a spherical homogeneous space G/Hgiven by a colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F}_Y)$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{F}_0$  the set of colors of X and by  $\Gamma$  the cone generated by  $\varrho(\mathcal{F}_0) \cup \mathcal{C}$ . We recall that  $\Gamma^{\vee}$  is the cone of *B*-weights of  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  (see Lemma 1.11).

**4.2.** An embedding Z of G/H is called *elementary* if Z has two orbits so that the complement of the open orbit is a divisor. In particular, every elementary embedding is smooth. There is a natural bijection between non-trivial normalized discrete G-invariant valuations on  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$  and elementary embeddings of G/H (see [BP87, 2.2]).

Let  $v \in \Gamma(1)$ . We say that v corresponds to a *G*-divisor of X if there exists a *G*divisor  $D \subset X$  such that  $v = \rho(D)$ . In the sequel, we make the following convention. If vcorresponds to a *G*-divisor of X, then  $X_v$  denotes the associated elementary embedding of G/H given by the colored cone  $(\mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0} \cdot v, \emptyset)$ . Otherwise,  $v \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0} \cdot \rho(D_0)$  for some  $D_0 \in \mathcal{F}_0$ (see [Kno91, Lemma 2.4]) and we let  $X_v = G/H$ .

Let us introduce the main definition of this subsection.

**Definition 4.3.** A character  $\chi$  of G is called a *Demazure root* of X if  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma)$  and the following holds. The embedding  $X_v$ , where  $v = \rho_{\chi}$  is the distinguished ray of  $\chi$ 

(see 2.10), admits a normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action of degree  $\chi$  and is homogeneous under the induced  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$ -action.

We denote by  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  the set of Demazure roots of X. A root  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}(X)$  is said to be exterior if  $\rho_{\chi}$  corresponds to a G-divisor. Otherwise,  $\chi$  is called *interior*. We denote by  $\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{ext}}(X)$  (resp.  $\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X)$ ) the set of exterior (resp. interior) roots of X. Clearly, we have

$$\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{ext}}(X) \cap \operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X) = \emptyset$$
 and  $\operatorname{Rt}(X) = \operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{ext}}(X) \cup \operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X)$ .

**4.4.** Two nonzero LNDs  $\partial, \partial'$  on  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  are called equivalent if  $\partial = \lambda \cdot \partial'$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}^*$ . We denote by  $\mathrm{LND}_G(X)$  the set of equivalence classes of nonzero LNDs on  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  corresponding to normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions. Since deg  $\partial = \deg \partial'$  for equivalent  $\partial$  and  $\partial'$ , the degree is well defined on  $\mathrm{LND}_G(X)$ . It also coincides with the degree of the homogeneous LND on  $\mathbb{K}[X]^U$  induced by any  $\partial' \in [\partial]$ .

The following theorem allows to reduce the classification of normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on X to the case when X is either quasi-affine homogeneous or elementary, and the induced action of  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$  on X is transitive.

# Theorem 4.5. The map

(6) 
$$\iota: \mathrm{LND}_G(X) \to \mathrm{Rt}(X), \ [\partial] \mapsto \deg \partial$$

is well defined and bijective. Furthermore, let  $\partial \in \text{LND}_G(X)$  and  $\chi = \deg \partial \in \text{Rt}(X)$ have the distinguished ray v. Then the following hold.

- (i) The open orbit of the induced  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$ -orbit on X is  $X_v$ .
- (ii) We have  $-v \in \mathcal{V}$ .
- (iii) The kernel ker  $\partial$  is a finitely generated subalgebra.

Proof. Consider  $[\partial] \in \text{LND}_G(X)$ . Let us show that  $\chi = \deg \partial \in \text{Rt}(X)$ . By Lemmas 1.11, 4.1, and [Lie10a, Theorem 2.7], we have  $\chi \in \text{Rt}(\Gamma)$ . Choose a *B*-eigenvector  $f \in \mathbb{K}[X]$  such that  $\chi_f \in \text{rel.int.}(\Gamma \cap \rho_{\chi}^{\perp}) \cap L$ , and let *B.x* be the open *B*-orbit of *X*. Since  $f \in \ker \partial$ , the subset  $X_f = X \setminus \text{div}(f)$  is stable under the  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action induced by  $\partial$ .

Assume first that  $v = \rho_{\chi} \in \Gamma(1)$  does not correspond to a *G*-divisor of *X*. Then we may consider the non-empty subset of colors

$$\mathcal{F}' = \{ D' \in \mathcal{F}_0 \mid \varrho(D') = v \}.$$

Using the relation

div 
$$f = \sum_{D \in \mathcal{F}_0 \cup \mathcal{P}} \langle \chi_f, \varrho(D) \rangle \cdot D,$$

where  $\mathcal{P}$  is the set of G-divisors of X, we obtain the equality

$$X_f = X \smallsetminus \bigcup_{\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{F}_0 \smallsetminus \mathcal{F}'} D.$$

The complement to  $(G/H) \cap X_f$  in  $X_f$  is of codimension at least two, hence the subset

$$Z = \mathbb{G}_a \star (X_f \smallsetminus (G/H))$$

is  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -stable and of codimension at least one. Thus,  $G/H = G \cdot (X_f \setminus Z)$  is also  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -stable. Hence  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}_{int}(X)$  and (i) is proven for this case.

Now assume that  $v = \rho_{\chi} \in \Gamma(1)$  corresponds to a *G*-divisor  $D_v$  of *X*. Then

$$X_f = X \smallsetminus \bigcup_{(\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{F}_0) \smallsetminus \{D_v\}} D$$

So, the open subset  $G \cdot X_f$  is  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -stable and its unique G-divisor is  $D_v$ .

Let us prove by contradiction that  $\mathbb{G}_a \star D_v$  is dense in X. If  $\mathbb{G}_a \star D_v$  is not dense, then G/H is  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -stable. Remark that the dual cone  $\Gamma_0$  of the *B*-weights of  $\mathbb{K}[G/H]$  is the subcone of  $\Gamma$  generated by  $\varrho(\mathcal{F}_0)$ . By considering the induced LND on  $\mathbb{K}[G/H]^U$ (see 4.1), which has same degree  $\chi$ , we have  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma_0)$ . Let v' be the distinguished ray of  $\chi$  with respect to  $\Gamma_0$ . The inclusion

$$\mathbb{K}[X]^U \cap \mathbb{K}(X)^{\partial} \subset \mathbb{K}[G/H]^U \cap \mathbb{K}(X)^{\partial}$$

yields the inclusion of facets  $v^{\perp} \cap \Gamma^{\vee} \subset v'^{\perp} \cap \Gamma_0^{\vee}$ . Hence  $v^{\perp} = v'^{\perp}$ . Since v, v' are primitive vectors and  $\Gamma$  is strongly convex, we have  $v = v' \in \Gamma(1) \cap \Gamma_0(1)$ . Therefore v does not correspond to a G-divisor of X, a contradiction. Hence  $\mathbb{G}_a \star D_v$  is dense in X.

Let G.y be the orbit which closure in  $G \cdot X_f$  is  $D_v$ . Such an orbit G.y exists due to the fact that X has a finite number of orbits. Then the subset

$$Z_0 = G \cdot X_f \smallsetminus (G/H \cup G.y)$$

is closed of codimension at least two. So,  $Z_1 = \overline{\mathbb{G}_a \star Z_0}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$ -stable subset of codimension at least one. Hence  $Z_1 \cap G/H = \emptyset$ . If  $Z_1 \cap G.y \neq \emptyset$ , then  $Z_1$  contains  $D_v$ , yielding a contradiction. Therefore,  $Z_1 = Z_0$  and  $X_v$  is  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -stable. Since  $D_v$  is not  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -stable,  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$  acts homogeneously on  $X_v$  and  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}_{ext}(X)$ . This proves (i) and shows that  $\iota$  in (6) is well defined. Note that the injectivity of  $\iota$  follows from Lemma 4.1 and the surjectivity is a consequence of (i).

(ii) We define the discrete G-invariant valuation w on  $\mathbb{K}(G/H)$  by letting

$$w(f) = -\max\{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid \partial^i(f) \neq 0\}$$

for every nonzero  $f \in \mathbb{K}[X_v]$ . Further, if f is a B-eigenvector, then  $w(f) = \langle \chi_f, -v \rangle$ . Hence  $w = -v \in \lim \mathcal{V}$ .

(iii) This follows from the fact that the  $(\ker \partial)^U$  is finitely generated (see [Kur03, Theorem 1.2] and [Lie10a, Corollary 2.11]) and that  $\ker \partial = G \cdot (\ker \partial)^U$ .

By the previous result we may introduce the following definition.

**Definition 4.6.** A non-trivial normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action of degree  $\chi$  on X is said to be *exterior* (resp. *interior*) if  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}_{ext}(X)$  (resp.  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}_{int}(X)$ )

As a direct consequence of Theorem 4.5, we have the following results.

**Corollary 4.7.** If G is semi-simple, then  $Rt(X) = \emptyset$ . If  $\mathcal{V}$  is strongly convex, then  $Rt_{ext}(X) = \emptyset$ .

*Proof.* This follows from the fact that  $\operatorname{Rt}(X) \subset \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma)$  and from the part (ii) of Theorem 4.5.

**Corollary 4.8.** If X has three orbits including a fixed point y, then  $\operatorname{Rt}_{ext}(X) = \emptyset$ .<sup>5</sup>

Proof. Take  $\chi \in \operatorname{Rt}_{ext}(X)$ . By Theorem 4.5, X admits a normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action on X that induces a transitive  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\chi} G$ -action on  $X_v$ , where  $v \in \mathcal{C}(1) \cap \mathcal{V}$ . Therefore,  $X \setminus X_v$  is  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -stable and y is the unique fixed point for the  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action. This yields a contradiction (see [Bia73]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>We are thankful for valuable suggestions to Hanspeter Kraft and other participants of the seminar "Algebra and Geometry" at the Mathematisches Institut, Basel Universität.

**Example 4.9.** Consider the spherical action of  $G = GL_2 \times GL_2$  on the variety  $X = M_{2\times 2}$  of  $2 \times 2$  matrices via the relation  $(P,Q) \cdot M = PMQ^{-1}$  for all  $(P,Q) \in G$  and  $M \in X$ . Then X has three orbits:

$$G \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, G \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, G \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

where the first is the fixed point. Hence by Corollary 4.8, every exterior normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action on X is trivial.

In the following paragraph, we recall the construction of the odd symplectic Grassmannian (cf [Mi07]). This contruction provides examples of non-trivial exterior normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions in the projective situation.

**Example 4.10.** Let E be a K-vector space of dimension 2r + 1. Consider a skew form  $\omega \in \bigwedge E^*$  of rank 2r, where  $E^*$  is the dual vector space of E. The closed subgroup of GL(E) preserving the form  $\omega$  is called the *odd symplectic group*  $\operatorname{Sp}_{2r+1}$ . Up to an appropriate basis of E, this algebraic group is isomorphic to a semi-direct product  $\mathbb{G}_a^{2r} \rtimes (\operatorname{Sp}_{2r} \times \mathbb{G}_m)$ , where  $\operatorname{Sp}_{2r} \subset \operatorname{GL}_{2r}$  is the classical symplectic group. Recall that a linear subspace  $F \subset E$  is said to be *isotropic* (with respect to  $\omega$ ) if  $\omega(v_1, v_2) = 0$  for any  $v_1, v_2 \in F$ . To specify the latter property we will write  $\omega(F) = 0$ . Denote by  $\operatorname{Gr}_d(E)$  the Grassmannian of d-dimensional linear subspaces of E. Then the *odd symplectic Grassmannian* is defined as the closed irreducible subset

$$X = \{F \in \operatorname{Gr}_d(E) \mid \omega(F) = 0\}.$$

Assume that  $d \leq r$ . The algebraic group  $\operatorname{Sp}_{2r+1}$  acts naturally on X. Let  $G = \operatorname{Sp}_{2r} \times \mathbb{G}_m \subset \operatorname{Sp}_{2r+1}$ , then the variety X is G-spherical. By [Mi07, Proposition 4.3], the variety has an open  $\operatorname{Sp}_{2r+1}$ -orbit  $\mathcal{O}$ , which decomposes in two G-orbits. Hence the induced  $\mathbb{G}_a^{2r}$ -action on X is non-trivial. Furthermore,  $\mathcal{O}$  is the total space of a line bundle over the symplectic Grassmannian Z of d-linear subspaces of  $\mathbb{K}^{2r}$ , whose fibers concide with the  $\mathbb{G}_a^{2r}$ -orbits and also with the closures of the  $\mathbb{G}_m$ -orbits in  $\mathcal{O}$ . The closed G-orbit in  $\mathcal{O}$  corresponds to the zero section and is therefore isomorphic to Z. In particular, every one-parameter unipotent subgroup  $H \subset \mathbb{G}_a^{2r}$  yields a vertical  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action on  $\mathcal{O}$  normalized by  $\mathbb{G}_m$ .

The set  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  of Demazure roots of an affine spherical variety X is defined in geometric terms. A natural question is to know whether  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  is described in combinatorial terms. More precisely, we propose the following problem.

Question 4.11. For any affine spherical variety X, is the set Rt(X) equal to the intersection of a finite union of polyhedra in  $L_{\mathbb{Q}}$  with the lattice L?

# 4.2. Description for the reductive group $G_e$ .

Let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety with associated colored cone  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$ . We assume that  $e \neq 0$ . The aim of this subsection is to provide an explicit description of the set  $\operatorname{Rt}(X)$  of the Demazure roots of X in terms of the pair  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$ , see Theorem 4.18.

**4.12.** Let  $\partial$  be the LND on  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  corresponding to a non-trivial normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action of degree  $\chi^{\theta}$ , where  $\theta \in M$  is nonzero. Equivalently,  $\partial$  is nonzero, homogeneous of degree  $\theta$  with respect to the *M*-grading of  $\mathbb{K}[X]$ , and satisfies  $[\partial, \partial_-] = [\partial, \partial_+] = 0$ , where  $\partial_{\pm}$  is the LND corresponding to the  $U_{\pm}$ -action on *X*.

Applying Lemma 4.1 to the Borel subgroups  $B_{-}$  and  $B_{+}$  of  $G_{e}$ , we immediately obtain the following result.

**Corollary 4.13.** Assume that X is of type I. Without loss of generality, we may suppose that  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  admits a presentation as in 2.24. Then in the notation of Section 3 and 4.12, we have  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\omega_{-}) \cap \operatorname{Rt}(\omega_{+})$ , and there exists a facet  $\varsigma_{\pm} \subset \omega_{\pm}^{\vee}$  such that

$$\ker \partial_{\pm} \cap \ker \partial = \bigoplus_{m \in \varsigma_{\pm} \cap L} \mathbb{K} \varphi_m^{\pm} \chi^m.$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.1, the restriction of  $\partial$  to ker  $\partial_{\pm} = \mathbb{K}[X]^{U_{\pm}}$  is well defined, non-trivial, and homogeneous. Since ker  $\partial_{\pm}$  is a semigroup algebra, we conclude by [Lie10a, Lemma 2.6].

The following theorem gives examples of affine spherical homogeneous spaces admitting a non-trivial normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action.

**Theorem 4.14.** Let X is be a  $G_e$ -spherical homogeneous space of type I. Consider the representation  $\mathbb{K}[X] = A[\mathbb{A}^1, \mathfrak{D}]$  as in Remark 3.5, where  $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{D}_{G_e/H}$ . Then X admits a normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action if and only if X is reflexive and  $v_0, v_1$  are linearly independent. Under this condition, all normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions are horizontal, and we have

$$\operatorname{Rt}(X) = \operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X) = \{\theta \in L \mid v_0(\theta) = v_1(\theta) = 1 \text{ or } v_0(\theta) = v_1(\theta) = -1\}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\partial$  be the LND corresponding to a non-trivial normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action on X. Denote by  $\theta$  the degree of  $\partial$ , and by  $\varpi$  the weight cone of ker  $\partial$ . By [Lie10a, Lemma 3.1],  $\partial$  is horizontal with respect to the M-grading of  $\mathbb{K}[X]$ .

Assume that X is skew. Then the quasifan  $\Lambda(\mathfrak{D})$  (see 2.2) has exactly two maximal elements. By Theorem 2.15, they are exactly  $\omega_{-}^{\vee}$  and  $\omega_{+}^{\vee}$ , hence  $\varpi$  coincides with one of them. But this contradicts Corollary 4.13. Thus, we may suppose that X is reflexive and  $\Lambda(\mathfrak{D})$  has at least three maximal cones. The latter condition is equivalent to  $v_0, v_1$ being linearly independent. In fact, in this case  $\Lambda(\mathfrak{D})$  has four maximal cones, and  $\omega_{-}$ ,  $\omega_{+}, \varpi$  are among them.

By Theorem 2.15, the LND  $\partial$  can be given by a triple  $(\lambda, \mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}, \theta)$ , where we let  $\lambda = 1$  for simplicity and where the colored polyhedral divisor is given by

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet} = (\mathfrak{D}, \{\mu_z \mid z \in \mathbb{A}^1\}, z_0).$$

Since  $\omega_{-}$  and  $\omega_{+}$  correspond to diagrams

the two possible cases remaining for  $\varpi$  are

$$\cdots \underbrace{\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & 0 \\ & & & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array}} \cdots \underbrace{\begin{array}{cccc} v_0 & v_1 \\ & & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array}} \cdots \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccccc} v_0 & v_1 \\ & & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array} \cdots$$

where the marked point  $z_0$  is not yet known.

Case 1. The coloration  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$  is represented by one of diagrams

The LND  $\partial$  is given by the relation

$$\partial(Q\chi^m) = Q'\chi^{m+\theta}$$
 for any  $Q \in \mathbb{K}(t), \chi \in M$ .

Let us study the conditions  $[\partial, \partial_+] = [\partial, \partial_-] = 0$ . Recall that

$$\partial_{-}(Q\chi^{m}) = (v_{0}(m)Q + tQ')\chi^{m-e}, \text{ for any } Q \in \mathbb{K}(t), \chi \in M, \\ \partial_{+}(Q\chi^{m}) = (v_{1}(m)Q + (t-1)Q')\chi^{m+e} \text{ for any } Q \in \mathbb{K}(t), \chi \in M.$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} \partial \circ \partial_{-}(Q\chi^{m}) &= (v_{0}(m)Q' + Q' + tQ'')\chi^{m+\theta-e}, \\ \partial_{-} \circ \partial(Q\chi^{m}) &= (v_{0}(m+\theta)Q' + tQ'')\chi^{m+\theta-e}. \\ \partial \circ \partial_{+}(Q\chi^{m}) &= (v_{1}(m)Q' + Q' + (t-1)Q'')\chi^{m+\theta+e} \\ \partial_{+} \circ \partial(Q\chi^{m}) &= (v_{1}(m+\theta)Q' + (t-1)Q'')\chi^{m+\theta+e}. \end{aligned}$$

The conditions  $[\partial, \partial_{-}] = 0$  and  $[\partial, \partial_{+}] = 0$  are therefore equivalent  $v_0(\theta) = 1$  and  $v_1(\theta) = 1$  respectively.

Case 2. The set of AL-colors  $\{\mu_z \mid z \in \mathbb{A}^1\}$  is  $\{v_0, v_1\}$ . Since  $\varsigma_{\pm} = \varpi \cap \omega_{\pm}^{\vee}$  is a facet that separates full-dimensional cones  $\varpi$  and  $\omega_{\pm}^{\vee}$  in  $\sigma^{\vee}$ , we have  $\varsigma_{\pm} \cap \text{rel.int.}(\sigma^{\vee}) \neq \emptyset$ . This implies that

$$\ker \,\partial = \bigoplus_{m \in \varpi \cap L} \mathbb{K} t^{-v_0(m)} (t-1)^{-v_1(m)},$$

and therefore  $z_0 \in \{0, 1\}$  by Remark 2.16. By applying the formula from Remark 2.16, one can see that in both cases  $z_0 = 0$  and  $z_0 = 1$  the derivation  $\partial$  is the same. namely for any  $Q \in \mathbb{K}(t), m \in M$ 

$$\partial(Q\chi^m) = \left(\left(\frac{v_0(m)}{t} + \frac{v_1(m)}{t-1}\right)Q + Q'\right)\gamma\chi^{m+\theta} \text{ where } \gamma = t^{-v_0(\theta)}(t-1)^{-v_1(\theta)}.$$

Let us study the conditions  $[\partial, \partial_{-}] = [\partial, \partial_{+}] = 0$ . Using  $\gamma' = -v_0(\theta)\frac{\gamma}{t} - v_1(\theta)\frac{\gamma}{t-1}$ , we have

$$\partial \circ \partial_{-}(t) = \partial(t\chi^{-e}) = \frac{t}{t-1}\gamma\chi^{\theta-e},$$
  

$$\partial_{-} \circ \partial(t) = \partial_{-}(\gamma\chi^{\theta}) = -v_{1}(\theta)\frac{t}{t-1}\gamma\chi^{\theta-e},$$
  

$$\partial \circ \partial_{+}(t) = \partial((t-1)\chi^{e}) = \frac{t-1}{t}\gamma\chi^{\theta+e},$$
  

$$\partial_{+} \circ \partial(t) = \partial_{+}(\gamma\chi^{\theta}) = -v_{0}(\theta)\frac{t-1}{t}\gamma\chi^{\theta+e},$$

The conditions  $\partial \circ \partial_+(t) = \partial_+ \circ \partial(t)$  and  $\partial \circ \partial_-(t) = \partial_- \circ \partial(t)$  are therefore equivalent  $v_0(\theta) = -1$  and  $v_1(\theta) = -1$  respectively. Thus,  $\gamma = t(t-1)$  and

$$\partial(Q\chi^m) = ((v_0(m)(t-1) + v_1(m)t)Q + t(t-1)Q')\chi^{m+\theta}$$

It is easy to check that  $\partial \circ \partial_{-}(\chi^{m}) = \partial_{-} \circ \partial(\chi^{m})$  and  $\partial \circ \partial_{+}(\chi^{m}) = \partial_{+} \circ \partial(\chi^{m})$  for any  $m \in$ . Therefore,  $\partial$  commutes with  $\partial_{-}$  and  $\partial_{+}$ .

Finally, from cases 1 and 2 we obtain the condition  $v_0(\theta) = v_1(\theta) = \pm 1$ , which implies that  $\theta$  is the Demazure root of the domain of  $\mathfrak{D}_{\bullet}$ . Now the proof of the theorem is completed.

Let us give an example of a non-trivial interior normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action.

**Example 4.15.** Assume that  $M = N = \mathbb{Z}^2$  and  $M_{\mathbb{Q}} = N_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q}^2$ . The pairing between M and N is given by the usual scalar product. Consider the polyhedral divisor

$$\mathfrak{D} = \operatorname{Conv}(0, v_0) \cdot \{0\} + \operatorname{Conv}(0, v_1) \cdot \{1\}$$

over the affine line  $\mathbb{A}^1$ , where  $v_0 = (-1, 0)$  and  $v_1 = (0, -1)$ . An easy computation shows that  $A = A[\mathbb{A}^1, \mathfrak{D}] = \mathbb{K}[u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4]$ , where  $u_1 = \chi^{(-1,0)}$ ,  $u_2 = \chi^{(0,-1)}$ ,  $u_3 = (t-1)\chi^{(0,1)}$ , and  $u_4 = t\chi^{(1,0)}$  satisfy the irreducible relation  $u_1u_4 - u_2u_3 - 1$ . Hence  $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ is identified with the hypersurface  $\mathbb{V}(x_1x_4 - x_2x_3 - 1) \subset \mathbb{A}^4$ . The action of the torus  $\mathbb{T} = (\mathbb{K}^*)^2$  on the coordinates is given by the formula

$$(t_1, t_2) \cdot (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) = (t_1 \cdot x_1, t_2 \cdot x_2, t_2^{-1} \cdot x_3, t_1^{-1} \cdot x_4),$$

where  $(t_1, t_2) \in \mathbb{T}$ . Consider the vector e = (-1, 1). Then we have  $\langle v_0, e \rangle = 1$  and  $\langle v_1, e \rangle = -1$ . The corresponding LNDs are given by

$$\partial_{-} = u_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + u_4 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3}$$
 and  $\partial_{+} = u_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} + u_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_4}$ 

Thus, the action of the algebraic group  $G_e = \operatorname{SL}_2 \rtimes_e \mathbb{T}$  is defined by the formula

$$g \cdot (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) = (dt_1 x_1 + ct_2 x_2, bt_1 x_1 + at_2 x_2, dt_2^{-1} x_3 + ct_1^{-1} x_4, bt_2^{-1} x_3 + at_1^{-1} x_4)$$

where  $g = \left( \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}, (t_1, t_2) \right) \in G_e$ . In particular, we have

$$g \cdot (1,0,0,1) = (dt_1, bt_1, ct_1^{-1}, at_1^{-1}).$$

The isotropy subgroup of (1, 0, 0, 1) is equal to

$$H = \left\{ \left( \begin{pmatrix} t_1 & 0 \\ 0 & t_1^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, (t_1, t_2) \right) \mid t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{K}^* \right\},\$$

and we have a  $G_e$ -isomorphism  $X \simeq G_e/H$ . Let us describe the non-trivial normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions on X. By Theorem 4.14, we observe that  $\operatorname{Rt}_{int}(X) = \{(1,1), (-1,-1)\}$ . The associated LNDs to the vectors (-1,-1), (1,1) are given respectively by

$$u_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + u_4 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2}$$
 and  $u_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3} + u_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_4}$ 

and the associated  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions by

$$\lambda \star (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) = (x_1 + \lambda x_3, x_2 + \lambda x_4, x_3, x_4)$$

and

$$\lambda \star (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) = (x_1, x_2, x_3 + \lambda x_1, x_4 + \lambda x_2)$$

for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{G}_a$ .

Let us describe the  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\theta} G_e$ -homogeneous space  $X = X_{\rho}$  associated to the root  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X)$  with the distinguished ray  $\rho$ . If  $\theta = (-1, -1)$ , then we have

$$(\lambda, g) \cdot (1, 0, 0, 1) = \lambda \star (g \cdot (1, 0, 0, 1)) = (dt_1 + \lambda ct_1^{-1}, bt_1 + \lambda at_1^{-1}, ct_1^{-1}, at_1^{-1}).$$

The isotropy subgroup of (1,0,0,1) for the  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\theta} G_e$ -action is

$$H_1 = \left\{ \left( -bt_1, \begin{pmatrix} t_1 & b \\ 0 & t_1^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, (t_1, t_2) \right) \middle| b \in \mathbb{K}, (t_1, t_2) \in (\mathbb{K}^*)^2 \right\}.$$

We have a  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\theta} G_e$ -isomorphism  $X \simeq (\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\theta} G_e)/H_1$ . Similarly, for  $\theta = (1, 1)$  the isotropy subgroup of (1, 0, 0, 1) is

$$H_2 = \left\{ \left( -ct_1^{-1}, \begin{pmatrix} t_1 & 0\\ c & t_1^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, (t_1, t_2) \right) \mid c \in \mathbb{K}, \ (t_1, t_2) \in (\mathbb{K}^*)^2 \right\},$$

and  $X \simeq (\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\theta} G_e)/H_2$ .

The next two lemmas will be used in the proof of Theorem 4.18.

**Lemma 4.16.** Let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety of type I. Assume that the torus  $\mathbb{T}$  acts faithfully on X. Then every exterior normalized  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action on X is vertical for the induced  $\mathbb{T}$ -action.

Proof. According to Theorem 4.5, it is enough to consider the  $\mathbb{G}_a \rtimes_{\theta} G_e$ -homogeneous variety  $X_{\rho}$ , where  $\rho$  is the distinguished ray of  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}_{ext}(X)$ . Note that a priori  $X_{\rho}$  is not necessarily affine. By Theorem 4.5(ii) and Lemma 3.10, we have  $\rho \in \operatorname{lin}(\mathcal{V}) = e^{\perp}$ . This implies that  $X_{\rho}$  is affine and described by a  $\sigma$ -polyhedral divisor over  $\mathbb{A}^1$ , where  $\sigma = \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0} \cdot \rho$ . By [Lie10a, Lemma 3.1], the equality  $\rho(\theta) = -1$  implies that the  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action on  $X_{\rho}$  is vertical.

**Lemma 4.17.** Let  $\varphi \in \mathbb{K}(t)^*$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $v \in N_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ,  $\rho \in N_{\mathbb{Q}} \setminus \{0\}$ , and  $e, \theta \in M$ . Consider the derivations  $\partial, \partial_{\bullet}$  on  $\mathbb{K}(t)[M]$  defined by the relations

$$\partial_{\bullet}(t^{r}\chi^{m}) = d \cdot (v(m) + r)\chi^{m+e}t^{r+s},$$
$$\partial(t^{r}\chi^{m}) = \rho(m)\varphi t^{r}\chi^{m+\theta} \text{ for all } (m,r) \in M \oplus \mathbb{Z}.$$

Then  $[\partial, \partial_{\bullet}] = 0$  if and only if  $\rho \in e^{\perp}$ ,  $v(\theta) \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and  $\varphi = \lambda t^{-v(\theta)}$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}^{\star}$ .

*Proof.* Let us compute the Lie bracket  $[\partial_{\bullet}, \partial](t^r \chi^m)$ . For all  $(m, r) \in M \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$\partial_{\bullet} \circ \partial(t^{r}\chi^{m}) = d \cdot \rho(m) \left[ \frac{d\varphi}{dt} t + (v(m+\theta)+r)\varphi \right] t^{r+s}\chi^{m+e+\theta}, \text{ and} \\ \partial \circ \partial_{\bullet}(t^{r}\chi^{m}) = d \cdot \rho(m+e)(v(m)+r)\varphi t^{r+s}\chi^{m+e+\theta}.$$

Thus, the condition  $[\partial, \partial_{\bullet}](t^r \chi^m) = 0$  is equivalent to

$$\rho(m)\left(v(\theta)\varphi + t\frac{d\varphi}{dt}\right) = \rho(e)(v(m) + r)\varphi$$

for any  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $m \in M$ . The left-hand side does not depend on r, hence  $[\partial, \partial_{\bullet}] = 0$  implies  $\rho(e)r\varphi = 0$  for all  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$  and is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} \rho(e) = 0, \\ v(\theta)\varphi + t\frac{d\varphi}{dt} = 0. \end{cases}$$

The latter equation is equivalent to  $\varphi = \lambda t^{-\nu(\theta)}$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}^*$ .

The following result gives a description of Demazure roots of an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety.

**Theorem 4.18.** Let X be an affine  $G_e$ -spherical variety. Assume that  $e \neq 0$  and that  $\mathbb{T}$  acts faithfully on X. Let  $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{F})$  be the associated colored cone of X with respect to the  $B_{\pm}$ -action. Let  $\Gamma$  be the polyhedral cone generated by the subset  $\mathcal{C}$  and by the images of all colors of X. Then the following hold.

(i) If X is of type I, then X is isomorphic to an embedding of  $G_e/H$ , where  $G_e/H$  is an in 3.5. In the reflexive case,

$$\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{ext}}(X) = \{ \theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma) \cap L \, | \, \rho_{\theta} \in \operatorname{lin}(\mathcal{V}), \, v_0(\theta) = v_1(\theta) = 0 \},$$

and in the skew case

$$\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{ext}}(X) = \{ \theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma) \cap L \, | \, \rho_{\theta} \in \operatorname{lin}(\mathcal{V}), \, v_1(\theta) = 0 \}.$$

Furthermore, if X is skew or  $v_0, v_1$  are linearly dependent, then  $\operatorname{Rt}_{int}(X) = \emptyset$ ; otherwise, we have

$$\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X) = \{ \theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma) \cap L \, | \, v_0(\theta) = v_1(\theta) = -1 \text{ or } v_0(\theta) = v_1(\theta) = 1 \}.$$

(ii) If X is not of type I, then X is a  $\tilde{G}_{\tilde{e}}$ -spherical variety of type II (see Lemma 3.14) isomorphic to an embedding of  $X_{\Sigma}$  as in Lemma 3.16. We have  $\operatorname{Rt}_{int}(X) = \emptyset$  and, in the notation of 3.18,

$$\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{ext}}(X) = \{ \theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma) \cap L_{\pm} \mid \theta \in \rho_{-}^{\perp} \cap \rho_{\pm}^{\perp} \text{ and } \rho_{\theta} \in e^{\perp} \}.$$

Proof. (i) Note that the description of  $\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X)$  is a direct consequence of Theorem 4.14. Let us describe the exterior Demazure roots of X. Let  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{ext}}(X)$  with the distinguished root  $\rho = \rho_{\theta}$ . Then by Lemma 4.16, the corresponding  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -action on  $X_{\rho}$  is obtained from a vertical LND  $\partial$  on  $\mathbb{K}[X_{\rho}]$  of degree  $\theta$  such that the algebra  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  is  $\partial$ -stable, see 2.10. By Lemma 4.17, the condition  $[\partial, \partial_{-}] = 0$  implies that  $v_0(\theta) \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\partial$  is given by the formula

$$\partial(Q\chi^m) = \rho(m)t^{-v_0(\theta)}Q\chi^{m+\theta},$$

where  $Q \in \mathbb{K}(t)$  and  $m \in M$ . The other implication  $\rho \in e^{\perp}$  is equivalent to  $\rho \in \lim_{t \to \infty} (\mathcal{V})$ .

Reflexive case. Using formula for  $\partial_+$  in Remark 2.26 and the equality  $\rho(e) = 0$ , we have

$$[\partial_+,\partial](Q\chi^m) = \rho(m)\left(v_1(\theta) - v_0(\theta)\frac{t-1}{t}\right)t^{-v_0(\theta)}Q\chi^{m+e+\theta} \text{ for any } Q \in \mathbb{K}(t), m \in M.$$

Therefore,  $\partial$  and  $\partial_+$  commute if and only if  $v_0(\theta) = v_1(\theta) = 0$ . We conclude by remarking that  $\partial(\mathbb{K}[X]) \subset \mathbb{K}[X]$  gives the condition  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma)$ .

Skew case. Similarly,

$$[\partial_+,\partial](Q\chi^m) = 2\rho(m)v_1(\theta)t^{-v_0(\theta)}Q\chi^{m+e+\theta} \text{ for any } Q \in \mathbb{K}(t), m \in M.$$

Thus,  $\partial$  and  $\partial_+$  commute if and only if  $v_1(\theta) = 0$ . Moreover, let  $\mathfrak{D}'$  be the polyhedral divisor over  $\mathbb{A}^1$  associated to  $X_{\rho}$ ; here we identify  $\mathbb{K}[X_{\rho}]$  with a subalgebra of  $\mathbb{K}[G_e/H]$ . Note that the condition on the vertical derivation  $\partial = \partial_{\theta t^{-v_0(\theta)}}$  imposed by 2.10, namely

$$t^{-v_0(\theta)} \in \Phi_{\theta}^{\star} = H^0(\mathbb{A}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{A}^1}([\mathfrak{D}'(\theta)])) \setminus \{0\},\$$

is always fulfilled. Again, we have the condition  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\Gamma)$ .

(ii)  $\mathbb{K}[X]$  is the semigroup algebra  $\mathbb{K}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap M]$ , where  $\sigma^{\vee} \subset M_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is the weight cone for the T-action. Let  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(X)$  with the distinguished root  $\rho = \rho_{\theta}$ . Then  $\theta \in \operatorname{Rt}(\sigma)$  and it corresponds to the homogeneous LND  $\partial$  given by

$$\partial(\chi^m) = \rho(m)\chi^{m+\theta}$$

The conditions  $[\partial, \partial_{-}] = [\partial, \partial_{+}] = 0$  are equivalent to (see the notation of 3.15)

$$\begin{cases} \rho_{-}(\theta)\rho(m) = -\rho(e)\rho_{-}(m) \text{ for any } m \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M, \\ \rho_{+}(\theta)\rho(m) = \rho(e)\rho_{+}(m) \text{ for any } m \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M. \end{cases}$$

In other words,  $\rho_{-}(\theta)\rho = -\rho(e)\rho_{-}$  and  $\rho_{+}(\theta)\rho = \rho(e)\rho_{+}$ . Moreover, these two vectors are collinear. Since  $\rho_{-}$  and  $\rho_{+}$  are not,  $\rho(e) = 0$ . Moreover,  $\rho \neq 0$  implies  $\rho_{-}(\theta) = \rho_{+}(\theta) = 0$ . But  $\rho(\theta) = -1$  by definition, hence  $\rho \notin \{\rho_{-}, \rho_{+}\}$ . So, Lemma 3.16(iii) implies that  $\rho$  is exterior and  $\operatorname{Rt}_{\operatorname{int}}(X) = \emptyset$ . Finally, under the conditions  $\rho(e) = \rho_{-}(\theta) = \rho_{+}(\theta) = 0$  the induced  $\mathbb{G}_{a}$ -action is indeed normalized by  $G_{e}$ .

**Corollary 4.19.** Let  $e \in M$  be a nonzero element. Then the answer to Question 4.11 is affirmative for the reductive group  $G_e$ .

#### References

- [AH06] K. Altmann, J. Hausen. Polyhedral divisors and algebraic torus actions. Math. Ann. 334 (2006), no. 3, 557–607.
- [AHS08] K. Altmann, J. Hausen, H. Suess. Gluing affine torus actions via divisorial fans. Transform. Groups 13 (2008), no. 2, 215–242.
- [AKP13] K. Altmann, V. Kiritchenko, L. Petersen. *Merging divisorial with colored fans.* preprint; arXiv: 1210.4523v2.
- [AG10] I.V. Arzhantsev, S.A. Gaifullin. Homogeneous toric varieties, J. Lie Theory 20 (2010), no. 2, 283–293.
- [AKZ12] I.V. Arzhantsev, K. Kuyumzhiyan, M. Zaidenberg. Flag varieties, toric varieties, and suspensions: three instances of infinite transitivity, (Russian) Mat. Sb. 203 (2012), no. 7, 3–30; translation in Sb. Math. 203 (2012), no. 7-8, 923–949.
- [AL12] I. Arzhantsev, A. Liendo. Polyhedral divisors and SL<sub>2</sub>-actions on affine T-varieties. Michigan Math. J. 61 (2012), no. 4, 731–762.
- [AFKKZ13] I.V. Arzhantsev, H. Flenner, S. Kaliman, F. Kutzschebauch, and M. Zaidenberg. Flexible varieties and automorphism groups. Duke Math. J. 162 (2013), no. 4, 767–823.
- [BH08] V. Batyrev, F. Haddad. On the geometry of SL<sub>2</sub>-equivariant flips. Mosc. Math. J. 8 (2008), 621–646.
- [Bia73] A. Białynicki-Birula. On fixed point schemes of actions of multiplicative and additive groups. Topology 12 (1973), 99–103.
- [BB96] F. Bien, M. Brion. Automorphisms and local rigidity of regular varieties. Compositio Math. **104** (1996), no. 1, 1–26.
- [BP87] M. Brion, F. Pauer. Valuations des espaces homogènes sphériques. Comment. Math. Helv. 62 (1987), no. 2, 265–285.
- [Bri07] M. Brion. The total coordinate ring of a wonderful variety. J. Algebra **313** (2007), no. 1, 61–99.
- [CD03] A.M. Cohen, J. Draisma. From Lie algebras of vector fields to algebraic group actions. Transform. Groups 8 (2003), no. 1, 51–68.
- [CP83] C. De Concini, C. Procesi. Complete symmetric varieties I. In: Invariant theory, Proceedings, Montecatini. (F. Gherardelli ed.) Lect. Notes Math. 996, Heidelberg–Berlin–New York: Springer– Verlag 1983, 1-44.
- [Cox95] D. Cox. Homogeneous coordinate ring of a toric variety. J. Algebraic Geom. 4 (1995), no. 1, 17–50.
- [Cox14] D. Cox. Erratum to "Homogeneous coordinate ring of a toric variety". J. Algebraic Geom. 23 (2014), no. 2, 393–398.
- [Dem70] M. Demazure. Sous-groupes algébriques de rang maximum du groupe de Cremona. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. 3 (1970), 507–588.
- [Dem77] M. Demazure. Automorphismes et déformations des variétés de Borel. Invent. Math. 39 (1977), no. 2, 179–186.
- [Ful93] W. Fulton. Introduction to toric varieties. Annals of Mathematics Studies, 131. The William H. Roever Lectures in Geometry. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993.
- [FZ03] H. Flenner, M. Zaidenberg. Normal affine surfaces with  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -actions. Osaka J. Math. 40 (2003), no. 4, 981–1009.
- [FZ05] H. Flenner, M. Zaidenberg. Locally nilpotent derivations on affine surfaces with a C<sup>\*</sup>-action. Osaka J. Math. 42 (2005), no. 4, 931–974.

- [FKZ13] H. Flenner, S. Kaliman, M. Zaidenberg. *The Gromov–Winkelmann theorem for flexible varieties.* preprint; arXiv: 1305.6417.
- [Fre06] G. Freudenburg. Algebraic theory of locally nilpotent derivations. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 136. Invariant Theory and Algebraic Transformation Groups, VII. Springer–Verlag, Berlin, 2006.
- [KKMS73] G. Kempf, F. Knudsen, D. Mumford, B. Saint-Donat. *Toroidal embeddings*. I. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 339. Springer–Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1973.
- [Kno91] F. Knop. *The Luna–Vust theory of spherical embeddings*. Proceedings of the Hyderabad Conference on Algebraic Groups (Hyderabad, 1989), 225–249, Manoj Prakashan, Madras, 1991.
- [Kur03] S. Kuroda. A condition for finite generation of the kernel of a derivation. J. Algebra **262** (2003), no. 2, 391–400.
- [Lan13] K. Langlois. Sur les opérations de tores algébriques de complexité un dans les variétés affines. Institut Fourier. Ph.D. Thesis. (2013). arXiv: 1311.1800.
- [LL] K. Langlois. A. Liendo. Affine T-varieties of complexity one and additive group actions (in preparation).
- [Lie10a] A. Liendo. Affine T-varieties of complexity one and locally nilpotent derivations. Transform. Groups 15 (2010), no. 2, 389–425.
- [Lie10b] A. Liendo.  $\mathbb{G}_a$ -actions of fiber type on affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties. J. Algebra **324** (2010), no. 12, 3653–3665.
- [LV83] D. Luna, Th. Vust. Plongements d'espaces homogènes. Comment. Math. Helv. 58 (1983), no. 2, 186–245.
- [Mi07] I. A. Mihai. Odd symplectic flag manifolds. Transform. Groups 12 (2007), no. 3, 573–599.
- [MO73] K. Miyake, T. Oda. Almost homogeneous algebraic varieties under algebraic torus action. Manifolds–Tokyo 1973 (Proc. Internat. Conf., Tokyo, 1973), pp. 373–381. Univ. Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1975.
- [Oda88] T. Oda. Convex bodies and algebraic geometry. An introduction to the theory of toric varieties. Translated from the Japanese. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, 15. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988.
- [Pau81] F. Pauer. Normale Einbettungen von G/U. Math. Ann. 257 (1981), 371–396.
- [PS11] L. Petersen, H. Suess. Torus invariant divisors. Israel J. Math. 182 (2011), 481–504.
- [Pez09] G. Pezzini. Automorphisms of wonderful varieties. Transform. Groups 14 (2009), no. 3, 677-694.
- [Pez10] G. Pezzini. Lectures on spherical and wonderful varieties. Les cours du C.I.R.M. Actions hamiltoniennes: invariants et classifications. 1 (2010), no. 1, 33–53.
- [Ros63] M. Rosenlicht. A remark on quotient spaces. An. Acad. Brasil. Ci. 35 (1963), 487–489.
- [Sat60] I. Satake. On representations and compactifications of symmetric Riemannian spaces. Ann. Math. 71 (1960), 77–110.
- [Tim08] D.A. Timashëv. Torus actions of complexity one. Toric topology, 349–364, Contemp. Math., 460, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008.
- [Tim11] D. A. Timashëv. Homogeneous spaces and equivariant embeddings. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 138. Invariant Theory and Algebraic Transformation Groups, 8. Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.

UNIVERSITÉ GRENOBLE I, INSTITUT FOURIER, UMR 5582 CNRS-UJF, BP 74, 38402 ST. MARTIN D'HÈRES CÉDEX, FRANCE

#### *E-mail address*: kevin.langlois@ujf-grenoble.fr

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND MECHANICS, ST. PETERSBURG STATE UNIVERSITY, UNI-VERSITETSKY PR. 28, STARY PETERHOF, 198504, RUSSIA

*E-mail address*: perepechko@gmail.com